
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Thursday, 23 November 2017 at 6.30 p.m., Room C1, 1st Floor, Town 
Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG

This meeting is open to the public to attend. 
Members: 
Chair: Councillor Dave Chesterton
Vice Chair: Councillor Clare Harrisson Scrutiny Lead for Health, Adults & Community
Councillor Danny Hassell Scrutiny Lead for Children's Services
Councillor Muhammad Ansar Mustaquim
Councillor Oliur Rahman
Councillor Rabina Khan
Councillor Ayas Miah Scrutiny Lead for Governance
Councillor Helal Uddin Scrutiny Lead for Place
Councillor Andrew Wood Scrutiny Lead for Resources
Co-opted Members: 
Shabbir Chowdhury Parent Governors
Joanna Hannan Representative of Diocese of Westminster
Asad M Jaman Muslim Faith Community
Fatiha Kassouri Parent Governors
Dr Phillip Rice Church of England Representative
Christine Trumper Parent Governors
Deputies:
Councillor Abdul Asad, Councillor Ohid Ahmed, Councillor Rajib Ahmed, Councillor Chris 
Chapman, Councillor Gulam Kibria Choudhury, Councillor Md. Maium Miah and Councillor 
Candida Ronald

[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members]
Contact for further enquiries:
David Knight, Democratic Services
1st Floor, Town Hall, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, 
London, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 4878
E-mail: david.knight@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web: http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code for 
the electronic 
agenda:

Page 1



Public Information
Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited and 
offered on a first come first served basis. 

Audio/Visual recording of meetings.
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page.

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting. 

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.     

Bus: Routes: D3, D6, D7, D8, 15, 108, and115 all stop 
near the Town Hall. 
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are East 
India: Head across the bridge and then through 
complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry Place 
Blackwall station. Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, through 
the gates and archway to the Town Hall. 
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning Town 
and Canary Wharf 
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and display 
parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx) 
Meeting access/special requirements. 
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts to 
venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing difficulties 
are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio version. For 
further information, contact the Officer shown on the front of the agenda 

Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire exit 
without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to the fire 
assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you to a safe 
area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand adjourned.
Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.  

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for

Page 2



the relevant committee and meeting date.
Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, iPad and Android apps.  

QR code for 
smart phone 
users.

SECTION ONE WARD PAGE 
NUMBER(S)

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTEREST 

9 - 12

To note any declarations of interest made by Members, 
including those restricting Members from voting on the 
questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Interim 
Monitoring Officer.

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 25th October, 2017 - TO 
FOLLOW

4. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE QUERY 
AND ACTION LOG 2016/17 

All Wards

The Committee is asked to consider an update on the 
outstanding actions arising from the last meeting (to be 
notified prior to the meeting).

5. CHAIRS ACTION 

6. REQUESTS TO SUBMIT PETITIONS 

To receive any petitions (to be notified at the meeting).

7. FORTHCOMING DECISIONS 

Page 3



8. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS 'CALLED IN' 

To receive any unrestricted reported “Called In” (to be 
notified at the meeting).

9. UNRESTRICTED REPORTS FOR 
CONSIDERATION 

9 .1 Complaints Annual Report  All Wards 13 - 92

The Complaints and Information Annual Report 2016/17 
sets out the Council’s activities and performance in 
response to Information Governance matters and 
Information Requests; Corporate Complaints and Statutory 
Complaints for Children’s and Adults Social Care. 

9 .2 Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring - REPORT TO FOLLOW  All Wards

9 .3 Children's Safeguarding Spotlight  All Wards 93 - 130

This report and its appendix set out the annual report of 
Tower Hamlets Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB), which is a statutory 
requirement under the Children Act 2004 and Working 
Together to Safeguard Children Guidance 2015. The 
annual report sets out the Board’s governance 
arrangements, key safeguarding information and response 
to the Ofsted Review of LSCB undertaken in February 
2017.

9 .4 Cabinet Member Spotlight - Children's Services  

The Committee will receive a presentation on the night 
from the Cabinet Member for Education and Children's 
Services.

9 .5 Children's Services Improvement - Progress Report 
Quarter 2 - TO FOLLOW  

All Wards

The Committee will receive a presentation on the night 
which will provide an update on the Children’s Services 
Improvement programme.

Page 4



10. VERBAL UPDATES FROM SCRUTINY LEADS 

The Committee will receive a briefing from each of the 
Scrutiny Leads:

1. Councillor Clare Harrisson - Scrutiny Lead for 

Health, Adults & Community;

2. Councillor Danny Hassell - Scrutiny Lead for 

Children's Services;

3. Councillor Ayas Miah Scrutiny Lead for 

Governance;

4. Councillor Helal Uddin - Scrutiny Lead for Place; 

and

5. Councillor Andrew Wood - Scrutiny Lead for 

Resources.

(Time allocated – 5 minutes each)

11. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF UNRESTRICTED 
CABINET PAPERS 

To consider and agree pre-decision scrutiny 
questions/comments to be presented to Cabinet.
 
(Time allocated – 30 minutes).

12. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS 
WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS TO BE 
URGENT 

To consider any other unrestricted business that the Chair 
considers to be urgent.

13. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  

In view of the contents of the remaining items on the 
agenda the Committee is recommended to adopt the 

Page 5



following motion:

“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the press 
and public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
for the consideration of the Section Two business on the 
grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 
1972.”

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (Pink Papers)

The exempt committee papers in the agenda will contain 
information, which is commercially, legally or personally 
sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.  If you 
do not wish to retain these papers after the meeting, please 
hand them to the Committee Officer present.

SECTION TWO WARD PAGE 
NUMBER(S)

14. EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL MINUTES 

Nil items

15. EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL REPORTS 'CALLED 
IN' 

To receive any restricted reported “Called In” (to be notified 
at the meeting).

16. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXEMPT/ 
CONFIDENTIAL) CABINET PAPERS 

To consider and agree pre-decision scrutiny 
questions/comments to be presented to Cabinet.
 
(Time allocated 15 minutes).

17. ANY OTHER EXEMPT/ CONFIDENTIAL 
BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS 
URGENT 

To consider any other exempt/ confidential business that 
the Chair considers to be urgent.

Page 6



Next Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday, 13 December 2017 at 6.30 p.m. to be held in Room C1, 1st Floor, Town Hall, 
Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.   

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.  

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.   

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 

or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and 
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 

decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision 

When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register. 

Further advice

For further advice please contact:-

Asmat Hussain, Corporate Director, Governance and Monitoring Officer. Tel 020 7364 4800

Page 10



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Non-Executive Report of the:
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

DD Month 2017

Report of: Asmat Hussain, Corporate Director - Governance
Classification:
Unrestricted 

The Complaints and Information Annual Report 2016/17

Originating Officer(s) Ruth Dowden, Service Manager – Complaints and 
Information

Wards affected All wards 

Summary
The Complaints and Information Annual Report 2016/17 sets out the Council’s 
activities and performance in response to Information Governance matters and 
Information Requests; Corporate Complaints and Statutory Complaints for 
Children’s and Adults Social Care. 

Recommendations
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to note priorities for action 
to improve performance and consider priorities for developments in practice for both 
information governance and complaints handling

1. INTRODUCTION/SUMMARY

1.1 The Complaints and Information Annual Report 2016/17 sets out the Council’s 
activities and performance in response to Information Governance matters and 
Information Requests; Corporate Complaints and Statutory Complaints for 
Children’s and Adults Social Care. 

2. FOR MAYOR’S ADVISORY BOARD  TO CONSIDER

2.1 MAB is recommended to note priorities for action to improve performance and 
consider priorities for developments in practice for both information governance and 
complaints handling.

2.2 This report is subsequently considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

3. BACKGROUND

3.1 The Council receives an annual report on its complaints handling and information 
requests. This report accounts for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.

Page 13

Agenda Item 9.1



2

3.2 The report’s Introduction and Summary (section 1) sets out the key performance 
and activity points from the year. 

3.3 Whilst the Council’s escalation to internal process and to external regulators 
including the Information Commissioner and the Local Government and Housing 
Ombudsman are low, response rates could be improved in all areas of complaints 
and information requests. 

3.4 The Corporate Complaints Procedure and Statutory Social Care Procedures seek 
to ensure that all people receiving or seeking to receive a service are treated in 
accordance with service standards and have an opportunity to address any 
concerns. The procedures are accessible to the community and can be accessed in 
a range of formats.  

3.5 Responding to Information Requests and providing Council data through the 
Transparency and Open Data work stream promotes ease of access for the 
community to decision making processes and the activities of the Council.   

3.6 The Complaints policies also address risk and provide the Council with a 
mechanism to identify issues that might otherwise lead to legal, reputational and 
other damage. This is enhanced by the policy on Compensation and Redress 
whereby a suitable settlement can be achieved commensurate with difficulties 
experienced.   

1. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

4.1 This report provides the annual complaints and information report for the period 1st 
April 2016 to 31st March 2017.  There are no financial implications arising from this 
report.  However In the event that the Council agrees further action in response to 
this report, then approval for any further resources will need to be approved using 
existing financial procedure rules before any commitments can be made.

2. LEGAL COMMENTS

5.1 The Council has a number of statutory duties regarding handling of information 
requests, including the time required to give responses.  Sections 3 and 4 of the 
Complaints and Information Annual Report sets out the Council’s performance 
against those required time limits.

5.2 The Council has statutory duties in respect of the handling of social care complaints 
as set out in the report.  The proper handling of complaints and the consideration of 
information arising from a those complaints may also be consistent with good 
administration in the discharge of the Council’s functions.  It may contribute to 
improving the quality of services that the Council offers and hence to the Council’s 
duty as a best value authority under section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 to 
“make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness”.  Proper complaints handling and review may also contribute to the 
avoidance of maladministration within the meaning of the Local Government Act 
1974.

5.3 In carrying out its functions, the Council must comply with the public sector equality 
duty set out in section 149 Equality Act 2010, namely it must have due regard to the 

Page 14



3

need to eliminate unlawful conduct under the Equality Act 2010, the need to 
advance equality of opportunity and to foster good relations between persons who 
share a protected characteristic and those who do not.

6. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 The report sets out the Council’s commitment to deal with all complaints, and 
information requests fairly and equally with the procedures themselves contributing 
to the positive opportunity for all residents and interested parties to raise concerns 
with service provision and gain a more detailed understanding of the Council’s 
work. 

7. BEST VALUE (BV) IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The Council seeks to secure continuous improvement in service provision and 
effective complaints resolution is a key tool in this process. 

8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

8.1 There are no specific implications in this report. 

9. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The complaints procedure provides a means of identifying issue and mitigating risk 
from errors and omissions in service delivery. Effective Information Governance 
policies and processes also enable the organisation to monitor the effectiveness of 
its approach in mitigating information governance related risks. 

10. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no specific issues.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Complaints and 
Information 
Governance

Annual Report

2016-2017
Draft Version 2

Page 17



2 | P a g e

Contents

Section 1 Introduction

Section 2 Information Governance 

Section 3 Information Requests

Section 4 Subject Access Requests

Section 5 Corporate Complaints

Section 6 Adult Social Care Complaints

Section 7 Children’s Social Care Complaints 

Section 8 Ombudsman Complaints

Section 9 Improvement Initiatives

Page 18



3 | P a g e

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. This report provides information regarding the Council’s handling of complaints and 
information requests in the year 2016/17.  It covers –
 Information governance 
 Information requests under the Freedom of Information Act and 

Environmental Information Regulations 
 Subject access requests under the Data Protection Act (;
 Complaints handling at all stages of the Council’s Corporate Complaints 

Procedure 
 Complaints handling under the statutory Adults and Children’s Social Care 

Complaints Procedures; 
 Complaints to the Information Commissioner), Local Government 

Ombudsman and Housing Ombudsman 

1.2. The report reviews the outcomes and performance of the Council as well as the the 
volume of complaints and information requests received by the Council in the 
period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017,. 

1.3. During 2016/207 the Council underwent a restructure of its Directorates and it 
should be noted that Communities Culture and Localities (CLC) ceased to exist as 
a directorate with their services distributed across other directorates. Development 
and Renewal became Place absorbing the majority of services from CLC and 
Adults Services became Health Adults and Communities.  As far as it has been 
practicable  adjustments have been made to reflect the new structure.  Care should 
be taken in comparing cases and drawing conclusions with the volumes of cases 
and performance with historic data.

1.4. The highlights for 2016/2017–

 Information Governance

We previously met the compliance criteria for Health and Social Care 
Information Council Toolkit with 82% and in our self-evaluation indicated 
an increase to 90% compliance .  

 Freedom of Information (FOI)

o One of the highest volumes in London.
o 13% increase in request from 2015/2016
o The rate of requests for internal reviews from information requests 

remained low (at 3.01%).
o 2 cases out of the total 2191 requests the Council considered, were 

determined by the Information Commissioner (0.15%) and only 1 was 
upheld.

o Response rate improved from 85% to 88%.  The corporate target is 95%.  
Improvement made mid-year saw significant improvements in response 
rates. 

 Subject Access Requests (SAR)

Page 19



4 | P a g e

o 95% were processed within target.

 Corporate Complaints

o 2% decrease in Stage 1 complaints.   
o Improvements to response rates from 80% to 86% in time

 Adult Social Care

Increase in complaints of 13% in comparison to previous year. Improvements 
are underway to process complaint with 

 Children’s Social Care

o Decreased 9% less than previous year
o Improvements to turnaround time and continuous progress. 

 Local Government Ombudsman (LGO)

o A decrease of 23% in volumes Benchmarking across London sees Tower 
Hamlets 14 out of 33 for fewest enquiries received by the LGO.

o 19 complaints were investigated and upheld in comparison to previous 
year’s 22 upheld.

o 1 formal Report was made in respect of payments made for looking after 
a child. 

 Housing Ombudsman  (HO)

o 2 out of 37 cases closed were upheld and required remedy.

1.5. Successful organisations encourage service users to complain, and this is an 
indication of a healthy relationship with service users.  Complaints should be 
resolved at the lowest possible point and the escalation of complaints can indicate 
difficulties in addressing matters at the service level.  The Council has adopted 
corporate performance standards, designed to ensure complaints are dealt with in a 
timely fashion.  Performance is regularly reviewed by both the Corporate 
Leadership team and elected Members and the Mayor.  The Complaints and 
Information Team identifies themes and works with the service areas to bring about 
effective change.

1.7 With volumes of complaints increasing, it is essential that the Council examines 
how to find effective resolution at the earliest opportunity. The Council continues to 
give consideration to improve the procedure, with a view to streamlining to two 
internal stages. 

1.8 Work is underway to prepare the Council to meet the requirements of the General 
Data Protection Regulation (EU), and the UK Government’s Data Protection Bill 
expected late in 2017. 

Page 20



5 | P a g e

2. INFORMATION GOVERNANCE

2.1. Information governance encompasses the policies, procedures and controls 
designed to manage information across the Council.  The Council has a framework 
of policies, procedures and guidance covering records management, information 
security and data protection.  Information risk is managed within the Council's 
corporate risk management framework.

2.2. The Council’s Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) has overall responsibility for 
information governance. Zena Cooke, Corporate Director – Resources, is the 
Council’s SIRO. 

2.3. The SIRO is supported by the Corporate Complaints and Information team, in the 
Governance and Monitoring Officer Directorate.  An Information Governance Group 
(IGG) of officers meets every six weeks to review information governance issues 
and to develop strategic approaches to legislation, policies, practice, risk 
management and quality assurance, 

2.4. The Council is a data controller within the meaning of the Data Protection Act 1998 
and is required to process data in accordance with the data protection principles.  
These may be summarised as follows –

 Personal data shall be processed fairly and lawfully and only where one of 
the conditions specified in the Data Protection Act is met.

 Personal data shall be obtained only for one or more specified and lawful 
purposes, and shall not be further processed in any manner incompatible 
with that purpose or those purposes.

 Personal data shall be adequate, relevant and not excessive in relation to 
the purpose or purposes for which they are processed

 Personal data shall be accurate and, where necessary, kept up to date.
 Personal data processed for any purpose or purposes shall not be kept for 

longer than is necessary for that purpose or those purposes.
 Personal data shall be processed in accordance with the rights of data 

subjects under this Act.
 Appropriate technical and organisational measures shall be taken against 

unauthorised or unlawful processing of personal data and against accidental 
loss or destruction of, or damage to, personal data.

 Personal data shall not be transferred to a country or territory outside the 
European Economic Area unless that country or territory ensures an 
adequate level of protection for the rights and freedoms of data subjects in 
relation to the processing of personal data.

2.5. A number of developments took place in relation to information governance during 
2016/2017.

 Quarterly strategic Information Governance Board established in January 2017 

 Working group established to meet the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) requirements, with project management support from the Programme 
Office. 

Page 21



6 | P a g e

 Compulsory on-line training launched for all staff 

2.6. The Council’s information governance structure and arrangements are important for 
ensuring that all staff understands their responsibilities under the relevant legislation 
and how this is carried forward in practice. Our governance arrangements are subject 
to review by the Information Commissioner should they wish to audit and are essential 
components of our submission to external accreditations.

2.7. A full review of our policies procedures and guidance was undertaken throughout the 
year and the documents updated. 

2.8. The annual submission for the Health and Social Care Information Council (HSCIC) 
Toolkit (Information Governance assessment) was submitted in March 2017.  The 
Council scored 90% which is an improvement over last year’s 82%. Each year the 
Council aims to achieve greater compliance. The 28 assessed components are 
graded from 0 (not compliant) to 3 and attained level 2 (satisfactory) or above for 
every component. A certificate was also obtained for the Public Sector Network (PSN) 
in January 2016 valid for one year and a new certificate us currently being assed.

2.9. Information Asset Register

The IGG  embarked on a review of the Information Asset register to establish a single 
register for electronic and paper assets and to identify their properties, usage and 
potential risks. The new register was added to JCAD Core, the Council’s risk 
management software in May 2017.  The information from the current spreadsheets 
will be transferred to the new system which will have new fields to be completed to 
comply with the GDPR legislation including conditions for processing, retention period 
and documents to be uploaded for assets (privacy notice and risk assessments).

2.10. Transparency

The Council improved the availability and quality of information published and has met 
all the 2015 Government Code on Transparency data requirements. We are now 
pursuing the Mayor’s agenda of transparency to a higher open data publication 
standard and increase the range of data. 

Compliance with the publication formatting standard in the code has also been met. In 
order to meet the 4 star publication standard the Council required a software platform 
to provide these formats. 5 star publication standards require links to other web-sites 
and data sources for comparison. This is met in part and will be enhanced by use of a 
dedicated platform, Socrata which is in the final testing phase and publication will 
commence shortly.  

2.11. Security incidents

Information security incidents are required to be reported to the Corporate Complaints 
and Information team.  These are recorded and the register is reviewed periodically by 
the IGG.  Two incidents registered resulted in reporting to the Information 
Commissioner.

Page 22



7 | P a g e

2.12. Risk

The fitness or otherwise of the information governance framework is a corporate-
level risk and is now the subject of regular review in accordance with the Council’s 
risk management procedure. Risk controls are in place. 

2.13. Training

Information Governance training continues to be promoted in order to minimise 
risks for the Council. This includes e-learning packages, group training sessions, 
face to face training sessions and security information governance in team 
meetings.  A range of posters placed in print hubs, intranet messages and emails 
were used to raise awareness and bookable courses on FOI and Data Protection 
delivered. 

2.14. Gap Analysis

In compiling this summary due consideration has been given to the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) which will come into effect in May 2018. A project 
group is working through a number of significant changes.

2.15. Proposed Solutions

a. Policy Acceptance & Training Compliance Software 

The Council agreed to purchase a software package that will  distribute policy 
documents, briefings, training materials and record staff compliance has been 
delayed but is now being progressed. The solution will assist the Council in 
ensuring staff are complaint with its obligations under IG and replace the manual 
method..  .

b. Audits and Spot Checks

Spot checks on handling personal data and system integrity will need to be 
enhance with input from Internal Audit, the Complaints and Information team and 
services themselves.  
Audits and monitoring will become a significant factor in letting tenders and 
contracts as suppliers will have to demonstrate their compliance to GDPR to us. 

c. Review Retention of Electronic Data

The Council is undertaking a full review of all electronic data assets, including risk 
assessments due to the enormous amount of data held over the years. This  is 
costly in terms of  storage and should no longer be retained under data protection 
rules. Consideration is being given to engaging an external resource to complete 
the retention / deletion work and set up processes where by each Directorate can 
complete the processes in subsequent years. This willbe effectively combined with 
the first iteration of the risk assessments work which has been done to combine this 
within the JCAD database within each information asset. 

Page 23



8 | P a g e

d. Internal Processes for Information Governance 

There is significant work for the IGG and the Complaints and Information Team in 
meeting the GDPR standards, include establishing Data Use guidance; ata disposal 
processes; a full register of Data Sharing Arrangements; a full register of Privacy 
Notices; data sharing agreements; tender and contract clauses and contract 
monitoring; and records of all data processing transactions. This is significantly 
beyond business as usual but will need to be integrated into established roles and 
responsibilities once processes and criteria are in place. 

A new strategic Information Governance Board was established in December 2017 
and meets quarterly to oversee the direction and quality of information governance 
arrangements including the implementation of GDPR. 

e. Governance 

New projects and changes to processes involving personal data are referred to the 
Data Protection Officer (the Service Manager -Complaints and Information) via the 
relevant project board . Information Governance and Privacy must be integrated in 
the planning and record keeping of any such changes. To this end the Data 
Protection Officer links to the Strategic Overview Board and is establishing a similar 
link to the Smarter Together programme office. 

2.16. Legislative and Regulatory Changes

There are two significant changes pending in terms of Information Governance. 

1. The first is the General Data Protection Regulation, European Union legislation that 
will come into effect in May 2018. Whatever the Government’s Data Protection Bill 
anticipated for October 2017 brings, we know that we will need to demonstrate 
comparable safeguards and practice. 

2. The National Data Guardian (known as the Caldicott Guardian) has issued a 
consultation on Data Security, Consent and Opt-outs of data sharing. This applies 
specifically to social care and health data. The Council addressed the consultation 
and is awaiting confirmation of the standards for integration into its governance 
framework. 

Page 24



9 | P a g e

3. INFORMATION REQUESTS

3.1 The Council is required to respond to information requests under both the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.

3.2 The Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 2000 was implemented in 2005 to help bring 
about a culture of openness within the public sector so that the information held by 
public authorities is available and accessible to all, both within and outside the 
communities they serve.  It gives the public access to most structured information 
held by the Council unless it is appropriate for the Council to apply a legal 
exemption.

3.3 A separate but parallel process under the Environmental Information Regulations 
2004 (EIR) provides for access to environmental information within the meaning of 
EU Directive 2003/4/EC.  This covers information on –

 The state of the elements of the environment, such as air and atmosphere, 
water, soil, land, landscape and natural sites including wetlands, coastal and 
marine areas, biological diversity and its components, including genetically 
modified organisms, and the interaction among these elements.

 Factors affecting or likely to affect the elements of the environment, such as 
noise or waste.

 Measures (including administrative measures), such as policies, legislation, 
plans, programs, environmental agreements, and activities affecting or likely 
to affect the elements of the environment and factors affecting them.

 Cost-benefit and other economic analyses and assumptions used within the 
framework of these measures and activities.

 Reports on the implementation of environmental legislation.

 The state of human health and safety, including the contamination of the 
food chain, where relevant, conditions of human life, cultural sites and built 
structures inasmuch as they are or may be affected by the state of the 
elements of the environment or, through those elements, by any of the 
factors, measures or activities referred to above.

3.4 The FOI Act and EIR both set a deadline of 20 working days for the Council to 
respond to written requests from the public.  It is regulated by the Information 
Commissioner (ICO) and information on the ICO’s investigations and decisions is 
set out below.  

3.5 Information disclosed by the Council to applicants is usually also published on the 
Council’s disclosure log, linked to the Council website.  In this way a resource has 
been built up over time which is available to the public for reference.

3.6 Details of FOI and EIR requests closed by the Council in 2015/2016 and 2016/2017 
are summarised in Figures 1 and 2.  

Page 25

http://www.ico.gov.uk/
http://www.ico.gov.uk/


10 | P a g e

Figure 1

89%

94%

95%

87%

83%

85%

69%

80%

84%

85%

87%

86%

98%

97%

95%

93%

93%

98%

95%

89%

76%

67%

73%

82%

0 50 100 150 200 250

Mar

Feb

Jan

Dec

Nov

Oct

Sep

Aug

Jul

Jun

May

Apr

2016/17 - 2191 completed, 88% in target 2015/16 - 1944, completed 85% in target

FOI and EIR Requests by Month and % Completed in Target

Figure 2
FOI and EIR Requests by Directorate and Performance

2015/16*

* For comparison purposes CLC 
& D&R have been combined into 

Place as most CLC services 
moved to Place 

2016/17
 

Completed In 
Time  Requests In 

Time  

Change in Volume

Children’s 263 227 86% 423 373 88% 160 61%

Governance 184 134 73% 228 209 92% 44 24%

Health Adults and Community 163 138 85% 191 150 79% 28 17%

Place 815 690 85% 783 686 88% -32 -4%

Resources 392 359 92% 429 389 91% 37 9%
Tower Hamlets Homes 127 103 81% 137 128 93% 10 8%

 Total 1944 1651 85% 2191 1935 88% 247 13%

3.7 The number of information requests increased by 13% 

3.8 Performance in responding to requests within the 20 working day statutory deadline 
improved from 85% to 88%. This is attributed to increase in awareness and officers 
becoming more familiar with the new software.  .

3.9 Monitoring measures were emphasised to improve performance which was 
effective as the rate of responding in time improved throughout the year. 

Page 26



11 | P a g e

3.10 Internal Review

Figure 3
 2015/2016 2015/2016
 Requests Reviews Escalation Rate Requests Reviews Escalation Rate 

Number Completed 1944 60 3.09% 2191 66 3.01%

% Completed in Time  78%   79%  
Number Upheld / Partly Upheld at 
Reviews  14   35  

3.11 On receipt of a response to an FOI or EIR request, an applicant may ask for an 
internal review (complaint) if they are dissatisfied with the response provided.   
Figure 3 shows the escalation rate has dropped from last year. Response 
performance has increased despite an increase in 10% of the volume of cases. A 
greater proportion of the cases were upheld or partially upheld a summary of which 
is set out below.

3.12 35 cases  were upheld:

 Further information was made available in 14 cases, 
 Withheld information should have been released in 9 cases
 Delays occurred in 6 cases
 Different exemptions or exceptions were required in 5 cases
 A Stronger Public Interest Test was required in 1 case 

3.13 Complaints to the Information Commissioner

The Information Commissioner issued two decision notices.  The summaries from 
the ICO website are reproduced below, one of which found the wrong exemption 
had been applied and another was upheld due to the delay in dealing with the 
request. 

3.14 Case ref FS50612782: The complainant requested information about credit 
balances on business rates accounts. The Council refused to provide the 
information on the basis that sections 12 and 31 applied to the request. The 
Commissioner’s decision is that the Council has correctly applied section 12 to the 
request but that it has not provided the complainant with appropriate advice and 
assistance under section 16. The Commissioner requires the Council to provide the 
complainant with appropriate advice and assistance in accordance with its 
obligations under section 16 of FOIA.

3.15 Case ref FS50635529:  The complainant has requested information relating to 
personal data which may have been lost or stolen and what financial training has 
the youth service managers received.  The Commissioner’s decision is that the 
Council did not deal with the request for information in accordance with section 10 
of the FOIA in the following way: It failed to provide a response to the request within 
that statutory time frame of 20 working days. The Commissioner requires the 
Council to issue a response under the FOIA.

Page 27



12 | P a g e

3.16 There were three other cases where the information was supplied and the ICO 
closed the cases as agreement had been found informally.  A further case was 
found not to be a valid complaint as it concerned the logging of a Members Enquiry 
and not an FOI request.

Page 28



13 | P a g e

4. SUBJECT ACCESS REQUESTS

4.1 The DPA governs the collection, storage, and processing of personal data, in both 
manual and electronic forms.  It is regulated by the Information Commissioners 
Office (www.ico.gov.uk).  It requires those who hold personal data on individuals to 
be open about how the information is used, and requires the Council to process 
data in accordance with the principles of the Act.  Individuals have the right to find 
out what personal data is held about them, and what use is being made of that 
information.  These 'Subject Access Requests' ( SAR) should be processed by the 
Council within a period of 40 calendar days.  Details of the requests received in 
2015/2016 and 2016/2017 are set out in Figures 4 and 5.

Figure 4

94%

94%

100%

91%

93%

97%

70%

89%

93%

71%

92%

100%

97%

100%

100%

100%

96%

100%

96%

100%

80%

75%

87%

100%

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Mar

Feb

Jan

Dec

Nov

Oct

Sep

Aug

Jul

Jun

May

Apr

2016/17 - 234 completed, 95% in target 2015/16 - 246, completed 90% in target

Subject Access Requests by Month and % Completed in Target

Figure 5
Subject Access Requests by Directorate and Performance

2015/16*

* For comparison purposes CLC 
& D&R have been combined into 

Place as most CLC services 
moved to Place 

2016/17
 

Completed In 
Time  Requests In 

Time  

Change in 
Volume

Children’s 62 55 89% 98 90 92% 36 58%

Governance 16 16 100% 21 20 95% 5 31%

Health Adults and Community 47 37 79% 18 18 100% -29 -62%

Place 41 39 95% 29 28 97% -12 -29%
Resources 51 48 94% 45 45 100% -6 -12%

Tower Hamlets Homes 29 26 90% 23 21 91% -6 -21%

 Total 246 221 90% 234 222 95% -12 -5%

Page 29

http://www.ico.gov.uk/
http://www.ico.gov.uk/


14 | P a g e

4.2 Requests for personal information held fell by 5% with response times improving to 
95%.  Some of this performance improvement can be attributed to the use of the 
new software iCasework and using Adobe Professional. 

4.3 Requests for personal identifiable information are collated by the relevant service 
area and assessed under the DPA criteria.  The Corporate Complaints and 
Information team advise on preparation of files for release, and ensure that 
appropriate action is taken to safeguard data pertaining to other people and ensure 
that third party data redacted.

4.4 Some of the files held can be large with significant amounts of data provided by 
third parties (e.g. medical reports) and / or relating to other people (e.g. family 
members / neighbours).  In order for there to be a prompt response to all requests, 
consideration must be given to the resources required in each directorate or service 
area to meet the changing demand.  

4.5 Complaints to the Information Commissioner on Data Protection SAR 
provisions

These matters are not published, so reference numbers are not given in this report. 
4 complaints were considered by the ICO:-

 The disclosure of information to a partner without permission was not upheld. 

 The disclosure of officers names in an organisation chart provided under FOI 
that was inadequately redacted.  The ICO was satisfied that steps had been 
taken to mitigate this breach and reduce the risk reoccurring. 

 Two SAR complaints were upheld due to the delay in the response. 

4.6 Information Requests and SAR comparing volumes and performance

This is the first full year that all cases have been recorded using iCasework, which 
permits  a manual extraction of the data, allowing  directorates and services to 
adjust and meet the new Council structure. Information for 2015/16 derives from 
three  systems which did not have the same functionality for analysis data creating  
to match the new structure. Therefore, care should be taken when evaluating the 
changes in the data at a directorate level.  In order to try and do some comparisons 
Communities, Localities and Culture and Development and Renewal have been 
combined into Place for 2015/2016 as most CLC services moved to Place, however 
some services that were in Communities, Localities and Culture moved to 
Children’s, Health Adults and Community, Governance and Resources. Tower 
Hamlets Homes has a like for like comparisons.

 

Page 30



15 | P a g e

5. CORPORATE COMPLAINTS

5.1. The Corporate Complaints Procedure

The Complaints Procedure is detailed on the Council’s web site, where we state 
“we want to hear from you” and specifies –

 desire to give the best possible service;
 what needs to improve by listening to the views of service users and others;
 commitment to continuously improving services; and
 undertaking to act on what it is told.

5.2. The procedure is a three stage process, accepting issues from anyone who wants, 
or receives, a service from the Council.  The exception is where the matter is 
covered by another channel of redress, such as a legal, or appeal process (e.g. 
benefits assessments, parking penalty charges, leasehold matters), or where a 
statutory procedure exists.

At stages 1 and 2 of the complaints procedure, the matter is addressed by the 
relevant service managers.  At the 3 and final stage, an independent investigation is 
conducted by the team on behalf of Corporate Director of Governance and 
Monitoring Officer. 

Most Social Care complaints come under statutory procedures and are detailed in 
sections 6 and 7 of this report.  Schools complaints fall under a separate procedure 
at Stages 1 and 2, with the final stage coming under the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure, at Stage 3

All matters concerning Whistleblowing are considered under a separate process. 

5.3. Volume of complaints 

Figure 6 provides summary information about the total number of complaints. 
Overall, the number of complaints was significantly lower than last year. The closed 
in time rate has improved at all stages of the complaints process. 

5.4. Tower Hamlets population grew to an estimated 304,900 in June 2016 based on 
the latest figures available.  The rate of complaints has decreased from 13.1 
complaints per 1,000 of population in the previous year to 12.6 per 1,000 in 
2016/2017.

5.5. The 2017 Annual Residents Survey found that 72% of residents being very/fairly 
satisfied with the way we run things.  

5.6. This is the first full year that all cases have been recorded using iCasework, which 
permits a manual extraction of the data, which has allowed us to adjust the 
directorates and services to meet the new structure. However, information for 
2015/16 came from three systems which did not have the same detail of reporting 
breakdown and thus it has not been possible to adjust this to match the new 
structure. Therefore, care should be taken when evaluating the changes in volumes 
and performance at a directorate level due to the restructuring that has occurred.  

Page 31



16 | P a g e

Some services that had a high level of cases have now moved into a directorate 
that had a lower level of cases and thus the comparison figures are somewhat 
skewed. 

Figure 6

Volume of Complaints by Stage

 2015/16 2016/17

 Answered Answered In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld
Answered Answered In 

time
Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld

Volume 
Change

Stage 1 3870 80% 36% 3797 86% 44% -73 -2%

Stage 2 394 75% 33% 402 76% 41% 8 2%

Stage 3 191 75% 47% 142 87% 39% -49 -26%

5.7. Figure 7 shows the escalation rates through the stages of the complaints process.  
Overall, 11% of Stage 1 complaints were escalated to Stage 2 of the complaints 
process which is a 1% increase in escalation rates from the previous year.  
Escalation rates for Stage 1 complaints to Stage 3 have fallen to 4% which is 
encouraging.

Figure 7

Escalation Rates by Directorate 2016/17 

Stage 2 Stage 3

 Directorate Stage 
1 Stage 2 Escalated from 

Stage 1 Stage 3 Escalated 
from Stage 2

Escalated from 
Stage 1

Children's 126 17 13% 4 24% 3%

Governance 63 5 8% 4 80% 6%

Health Adults and Community 19 2 11% 0 0% 0%

Place 1993 217 11% 73 34% 4%

Resources 404 51 13% 17 33% 4%

Tower Hamlets Homes 1192 110 9% 44 40% 4%

Totals 3797 402 11% 142 35% 4%

Escalation Rates 2015/16   10%  48% 5%

Page 32



17 | P a g e

5.8. Stage 1 Complaints 

Figure 8 shows the rate at which complaints are upheld at Stage 1 and the 
percentage completed on time together with the percentage upheld and partly 
upheld.  

5.9. Response times for Stage 1 complaints have improved to 86%, the corporate 
target is 87% 

5.10. The number Upheld/ Partly Upheld has increased. 

Figure 8

Volume, Performance and Outcomes of Stage 1 Corporate Complaints

2015/16*

* For comparison purposes 
CLC & D&R have been 

combined into Place as most 
CLC services moved to Place 

2016/17

Directorate

Answered  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld
 Answered  In 

time
Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld

Volume 
Change

Children's 36 58% 28% 126 75% 50% 90 250%

Governance 41 71% 32% 63 81% 27% 22 54%

Health Adults and Community 6 0% 50% 19 58% 42% 13 217%

Place 1801 90% 36% 1993 90% 45% 192 11%

Resources 364 91% 41% 404 92% 45% 40 11%
Tower Hamlets Homes 1622 67% 37% 1192 79% 43% -430 -27%

Total 3870 80% 36% 3797 86% 44% -73 -2%

5.11. Figure 9 is a cross tab report of the Top 20 Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause 
with performance and outcome.

5.12. Set out in Appendix 1 are charts providing a breakdown of complaints in each 
directorate by reference to service issue against 

Page 33



18 | P a g e

Figure 9

Top 20 Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome 2016-2017
Service Issue 1st Time 

Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Parking 2 40 137 3 15 3 4 9 158 12 36 29 448 99% 10%

Dry recycling 2  176  6 2 31  17 6 11 3 254 88% 83%

Domestic refuse 3  131   9 28  3 6 23 4 207 90% 77%

Street cleansing 5  22 28  15 15  2 6 27 2 122 95% 52%
Waste and 
recycling other   20 6  7 19  17 27 8 4 108 90% 69%

ASB and THEOs 11  7 41 3 9 4  8 6 1 2 92 84% 10%
Food and 
garden recycling 1  54 1   7  3 10 2  78 94% 83%

Lettings  1 15 7 1 1 5  10 23 8 5 76 89% 45%
Road 
maintenance 
and repairs

22  9 4 1 13 16    5  70 87% 33%

Bulk waste   56 1   2  2 8   69 94% 80%
Other Housing 
Options Issues   6 11 1 1 2  4 11 3 18 57 81% 30%

Planning   3 15 3  5  13 10 4 1 54 46% 28%

Pest Control 1 2 10    3  1 11 5 6 39 97% 38%

Pollution 6  3 11 3 2 2  2 4   33 91% 21%
Permissions and 
Licences 1  2 12  6 7  1 1 1  31 84% 13%

Building Control   11 6  2    7 2 1 29 31% 72%
Health and 
Housing 3  2 2 9 2  1 1 5 2  27 96% 30%

Road Design 6  2 4  5 4   2 1  24 79% 25%
Streets & 
Highways 5  5 4  5 2   2  1 24 96% 29%

Housing 
Management 
and 
Procurement

  8 1     2 7 3 1 22 91% 50%

P
age 34



19 | P a g e

5.13. Stage 2 Complaints

Figure 10 shows the rate at which complaints are upheld and the percentage 
completed on time together with the percentage upheld and partly upheld.

5.14. The overall volume of complaints has remained almost the same, however with a 
distribution of these has changed with Tower Hamlets Homes having a significant 
reduction of 30%. (??/doesn’t read well)

5.15. Response times have remained unchanged and we have met the corporate target 
of 87%. 

5.16. The percentage Upheld/ Partly Upheld has increased services have been asked to 
review these cases.

Figure 10

Volume, Performance and Outcomes of Stage 2 Corporate Complaints

2015/16*

* For comparison purposes CLC 
& D&R have been combined into 

Place as most CLC services 
moved to Place 

2016/17

Directorate

Answered  In time
Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld
 Answered  In 

time
Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld

Volume 
Change

Children's 1 100% 100% 17 47% 18% 16 1600%

Governance 4 75% 25% 5 80% 0% 1 25%

Health Adults and Community 1 0% 0% 2 50% 0% 1 100%

Place 202 86% 21% 217 83% 35% 15 7%

Resources 29 93% 14% 51 76% 22% 22 76%
Tower Hamlets Homes 157 57% 52% 110 67% 65% -47 -30%

Total 394 75% 33% 402 76% 41% 8 2%

5.17. Figure 11 is a cross tab report of the Top 20 Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and 
Cause with performance and outcome.

5.18. Set out in Appendix 1 are charts providing a breakdown of the complaints in each 
directorate by reference to service issue against the Cause at each stage. 

Page 35



20 | P a g e

Figure 11

Top 20 Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome 2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Parking  11 19  3   1 33 2 4 2 75 99% 12%

THH Repairs 1  30    6  4 9 9 3 62 79% 65%

Benefits  3 6  1    8 5 2 1 26 81% 8%

Domestic refuse   12   1 2   1 3  19 68% 79%

Lettings  1 3    1  5 5 1  16 81% 38%
THH Decent 
Homes  1 3       6 4 1 15 73% 73%

Planning    1 1  1  3 5  1 12 67% 25%

Council Tax  7      1 2 1 1  12 75% 50%

Dry recycling   7       3 1  11 64% 100%
Waste and 
recycling other   2   2 3   2 1  10 90% 50%

Other Housing 
Options Issues   2    2  1 1 1 2 9 100% 11%

Food and 
garden recycling   6       2 1  9 44% 78%

THH Housing 
Management   2      2 3  1 8 25% 50%

THH Leasehold 
Services 1  2 1 1     1 2  8 50% 88%

THH RTB and 
Resales   4    2   1   7 29% 57%

Building Control   4 1      1   6 33% 50%

Mobility   2 1     3    6 100% 17%

Street cleansing 1   1   1  1 1 1  6 83% 50%
Housing 
Management 
and 
Procurement

  2 1      2   5 80% 40%

Road 
maintenance 
and repairs

  2    2  1    5 40% 20%

P
age 36



21 | P a g e

5.19. Stage 3 Complaints 

Figure 12 shows the rate at which complaints are and the percentage completed on time 
together with the percentage upheld and partly upheld. Stage 3 is an important review, as 
this is the last internal stage before the Local Government Ombudsman or Housing 
Ombudsman

5.20. The overall volume has fallen by 26%.  

5.21. Response times have significantly improved to 87% meeting the corporate target. 

5.22. The percentage Upheld/ Partly Upheld has decreased 
Figure 12

Volume, Performance and Outcomes of Stage 3 Corporate Complaints

2015/16*

* For comparison purposes CLC 
& D&R have been combined into 

Place as most CLC services 
moved to Place 

2016/17

Directorate

Answered  In time
Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld
 Answered  In time

Upheld/ 
Partly 

Upheld

Volume 
Change

Children's 1 100% 100% 4 50% 25% 3 300%

Governance 1 100% 0% 4 100% 50% 3 300%

Health Adults and Community 0 na 0% 0 na 0% 0 0%

Place 86 76% 35% 73 92% 30% -13 -15%

Resources 9 67% 11% 17 100% 24% 8 89%

Tower Hamlets Homes 94 76% 61% 44 75% 59% -50 -53%

Total 191 75% 47% 142 87% 39% -49 -26%

5.23. Figure 13 is a cross tab report of the Top 20 Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause with 
performance and outcome

5.24. Appendix 1 provides a full breakdown for each directorate at each stage. 

5.25. Set out in Appendix 1 are charts providing a breakdown of the Corporate complaints in each 
directorate by reference to service issue against the Cause at each stage. 

Page 37



22 | P a g e

Figure 13

Top 20 Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome 2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Parking  8 8      9 1 1 2 29 100% 24%

THH Repairs 1  9    1  2 6 3  22 73% 64%

Benefits  1 2      3 1 1 1 9 100% 33%
Other Housing 
Options Issues   2    2   1  1 6 83% 0%

Lettings  1     1  2 2   6 83% 33%
THH Decent 
Homes   1       2 3  6 67% 83%

Food and 
garden recycling   4       1   5 100% 100%

THH Leasehold 
Services 1    1     1 1  4 75% 100%

THH RTB and 
Resales   3       1   4 75% 25%

ASB and THEOs   1      2    3 100% 33%

Domestic refuse   3          3 100% 33%
Health and 
Housing          3   3 100% 0%

Planning         1 2   3 67% 33%

Council Tax  3           3 100% 0%
THH Housing 
Management   1      1 1   3 100% 33%

Legal Services   1       1   2 100% 50%
Children Social 
Care   1        1  2 50% 0%

Building Control   1       1   2 50% 50%

Mobility   2          2 100% 50%
Road 
maintenance 
and repairs

      1  1    2 100% 0%

P
age 38



23 | P a g e

5.26. Compensation 

Compensation is paid where a complaint is upheld and an apology or some other action is 
considered to be an insufficient remedy.  Figure 14 shows a summary of compensation 
payments made at Stage 3 during the previous 3 years.  

Figure 14
Number of Stage 3 cases warranting 

compensation
Total value of Compensation

2016/17 17 £3,605
2015/16 21 £10,142
2014/15 23 £8,186

5.27. Summary of Key Issues in Upheld Stage 3 Complaints

5.28. Place

There were 73 complaints for the Place Directorate of which 22 were upheld.  
 8 related to parking and mobility, 
 3 related to housing options, 
 2 related to planning and building control, 
 1 related to anti-social behaviour, 
 5 related to food and garden recycling, 
 1 related to domestic refuse, and 
 2 related to street cleansing.

5.29. One complaint of the 22 concerned two parking bays in the borough which were re-
designated to ambulance bays two years ago but had since been exclusively used by a 
funeral director with no parking enforcement. The service confirmed that the informal 
parking arrangement was not ideal and would be looking at a more permanent solution. 
Enforcement of funeral director’s vehicles would resume.    

5.30. Two complaints were about enforcement. One was about abandoned vehicles on the street 
for which the service apologised and remedial action was explained. The other was about 
Controlled Parking Zone times and the current speed limit on a road. The service is looking 
to undertake an informal public consultation.

5.31. One complaint related to incorrect advice given to the resident about transferring a parking 
permit following a number plate change. The resident was offered an apology and given 
£25 as a gesture of goodwill for the inconvenience.

5.32. One complaint was about a resident over 60, who was eligible for free scratch cards but 
had been paying for them for four years. Resident was given an apology and reimbursed 
£100.

5.33. One complaint was due to delay in processing a personalised disabled bay application and 
installation of the bay.  The service gave an estimated date of installation once the legal 
process is completed. 

5.34. Five complaints were about non collection of food and garden waste. One was about a 
missed collection of domestic waste. Apologies were given and increased monitoring of the 
site.

Page 39



24 | P a g e

5.35. One complaint was about noise emanating from an underground carpark, which was 
believed to be coming from the Road Sweeper’s storeroom. It was found that the noise was 
ASB and the service implemented security measures and evening patrols.

5.36. Two complaints were about Lettings Service, one of which was due to a delay in arranging 
an appointment with an Occupational Therapist. Apologies were given and a date to be 
arranged.

5.37. One complaint was about a neighbour dispute regarding the responsibility/ownership of a 
fence. The Council has no statutory duty to arbitrate on the ownership of structures and 
boundaries as it is not in possession of the land ownership records. 

5.38. Resources

There were 4 complaints upheld in the Resources Directorate.
 3 related to benefits and 
 1 was about Idea Stores Learning. 

As above 
5.39. Two complaints were in relation to a delay in processing and determining housing benefit 

entitlement. The reasons for the delay were explained and apologies were given. One 
complaint was about housing benefit payment not being directly paid to an estate agent as 
the tenant was in rent arrears. Apologies were given and payment was made.

5.40. One complaint was about a learner certificate being sent to an old address and poor 
delivery of a course. The correct address was on the system, but an old address list was 
used when sending out learner certificates. Apologies were given and certificate posted to 
correct address. Due to personal issues, the original tutor was unable to complete 
assessments and feedback and subsequently resigned, which caused a delay. £50 was 
offered to learners as a gesture of goodwill.  

5.41. Tower Hamlets Homes

How many in total – can we be consistent on the reporting please
Of the 44 considered, 26 THH complaints were upheld/partly upheld. 

 5  related to Decent Homes Work, 
 9 related to Repairs and General Build, 
 5 related to Repairs Mechanical and Technical,
  1 related to the Housing Service Centre (HSC), 
 1 related to Right to Buy (RTB), 
 4 related to Leasehold Services and 
 1 related to Housing Management.

As above 
5.42. Of the Decent Homes complaints, one resident was offered £1,150 in compensation for 

delays in completing kitchen renewal works and damage to their kitchen appliances. Three 
complaints were about poor quality of work, for which remedial actions were taken. One 
complaint was about the length of time scaffolding had been up, which was due to a delay 
in obtaining a crane license. Apologies were offered to the resident and reassurance given 
that no financial loss was incurred, and that it would be removed once works were 
completed. 
 

Page 40



25 | P a g e

5.43. One complaint was about unfair allocation of THH storage sheds and those that are let, not 
being regulated properly. As a result, THH intended to carry out a major review of estate 
facilities in 2017/18 and draft a Shed Policy, which did not exist.

5.44. One complaint was about a consultation on additional parking facilities on an estate for 
which the resident did not receive the results. THH agreed that 3 new resident’s bays would 
be created/re-designated, with scope for a further 3 bays. 

5.45. Three complaints were about leasehold service charges, one of which was offered £500 
compensation for time and trouble.

5.46. Five complaints were in relation to water penetration, and a total of £770 was offered in 
compensation as recorded on iCasework.

5.47. One complainant was credited £270.81 to his garage account for incorrectly carrying out a 
force entry in his garage.

5.48. One Complainant was offered £379.08 in compensation for the delay in decommissioning a 
boiler.

5.49. A total of £625 was offered in compensation for complaints that were logged on iCasework 
for Repairs Mechanical and Electrical.

5.50. Children’s 

One complaint was upheld in the Children’s Directorate. This was in relation to a delay in 
receiving reimbursement for travel expenses to London for contact with their children.

5.51. Governance

One complaint was upheld in the Governance Directorate. This was about a delay in 
completing a RTB application. The reasons for the delay was explained and apologies 
given. 

5.52. General Commentary by directorate 

5.53. Children’s Services

Pupil Admissions and Education Psychology and SEN

 Often the focal point for complainants is that they did not get the outcome they wanted, e.g. 
failure/delay to deliver service, and this includes tribunal/appeal processes. However 
compared to the average number of complaints nationally and within that context the 
number is relatively low.  

The Parent & Family Support Service

 Eligibility criteria for free childcare is agreed by central government and not accessible to 
all. Holiday childcare provision is not a statutory LA service and places are limited. Demand 
is increasing locally as more parents move into employment often into low paid jobs. The 

Page 41



26 | P a g e

service has also seen an increase in the number of parents frustrated by the support 
available in schools for children with special educational needs/disabilities (SEND). The 
Parent Advice Centre (PAC) service can provide mediation and support however cannot 
influence the organisation of a school or overturn decisions made by a school governing 
body.

 The volume of complaints is small in relation to the service provided. In 2016-17 the Family 
Information Service received 15,600 calls requesting information, advice and brokerage 
services. The PAC responded to 1192 requests for information and support in relation to 
SEND and 518 families were allocated a caseworker to support complex issues in relation 
to Education, Social Care and Health.

5.54. Heath, Adults and Community

Hospital and Community Integrated Services

 The main trend in complaints for this service area relates to staff. This is an area that has 
been raised with improvement board as it is felt that we need some service standards 
agreed across adult social care particularly around information giving and general 
communication and hopefully we are taking that forward.

 There have been two about the length of time Assessment and Intervention took to 
complete an assessment or answer the phones, surprisingly given the length of wait.  We 
have learned from this and have used resources to make more social workers available and 
have introduced a duty and triage on the phones to reduce call wait times which is working.  
Reducing the waiting time for assessment is a work in progress but we are putting plans in 
place.

Personalisation Resources and Review

 Bearing in mind the size of the Personalisation and Review teams and the volumes of 
users, the number of complaints is small although as a service area, the highest number of 
complaints is recorded. 

 The communication to users about the proposal to introduce charging for services resulted 
in 2 complaints which is to be expected. The impact of the Care Act 2014 implementation 
has resulted in a small number of challenges arising from a reassessment of needs that 
resulted in a reduction of care and support which I would expect to see. There are delays in 
undertaking annual reviews which has in part arisen from the Care Act implementation and 
then the implementation of the revised Practice Framework. 

Community Learning Disabilities

Themes to complaints in CLDS are delays; attitudes of staff and communication difficulties/ 
accessibility of service.

Various reasons:
 complexity of need
 High volume of work with Duty to due capacity issues in service

How we are addressing it:

Page 42



27 | P a g e

 Reviewing our operational policy, streamlining practices and realigning teams.
 Reviewing Duty process
 Addressing staff issues through supervision and appropriate HR policies, social work 

supervision/professional forum.
 Robust management of sickness
 Recruitment drive - pooling resources with other services in Directorate. 
 Dedicated mobile phone for carers to call – access to a Bengali speaker. 

Community Mental Health & Mental Health Older People

 Hard to distinguish who is responsible between ELHT and LBTH, need protocol to establish 
who is responsible /accountable.

5.55. Governance

 Despite a 54% increase in the number of Stage 1 Complaints received during 2016/17 as 
opposed to 2015/16, there was an improvement in response times with a 10% increase in 
numbers responded to in time.

 The number of Stage 2 Complaints also saw a slight increase, 5 in 2016/17 from 4 in 
2015/16 but again there was a 5% improvement  in performance in providing responses 
within the published response times  

5.56. Place

 Overall, complaints for the Place Directorate have increased by 10%.  

 There has been an increase of 11% at stage 1, 7% at Stage 2.   However, complaints at 
stage 3 have decreased by 15% which does show an improvement in the stage 2 
responses.    

 A vast majority of the complaints received are in the Public Realm division and surround 
issues such as Parking, Waste Management, THEO’s as well as Housing Options 
(Lettings/Homeless) and It is important to note that the on time response rate for all of these 
were an average of 92%. 

 High levels of complaints in the Housing Options department are to be expected due to the 
continuing Housing Crisis not only in Tower Hamlets but across London. 

 It has been noticed that there are a large number of upheld complaints in Clean & Green, 
and there are many contributing factors - vehicle break downs on the Recycling Service 
(prior to the new contract and new vehicles being delivered June 2017), issues with 
Underground Refuse System and also the change to pink recycling sack provision 
standard.   

 The highly publicised Lemonade incident, resulted in complaints in excess of 100 being 
recorded as partially upheld.  

Page 43



28 | P a g e

5.57. Resources

 While there has been an increase in FOI requests of 9% from 392 in 2015/16 to 429 in 
2016/17, this small increase remains broadly in line with historic levels (409 in 2014/15). 
The percentage of FOIs responded to on time remains high at 91%.

 There has been a small reduction in the number of SAR from 51 in 2015/16 to 45 in 
2016/17. This again is in line with historic levels of SARs (49 in 2014/15). 100% of SARs 
were responded to on time.

 The changes in volume mirror the changes for the organisation as a whole.

 Overall, there has been an 11% increase in the number of complaints received by the 
Resources Directorate from 364 in 2015/16 to 404 in 2016/17. However, on time 
performance remains very high at 92%. Stage 1 complaints upheld have increased from 
41% to 45%. 

 There has been a significant increase of 76% in complaints being escalated to Stage 2. 
However, in numerical terms this represents an increase from 29 to 51, meaning overall 
numbers remain low and in line with escalation rates for the organisation as a whole. 
Unfortunately, on time performance for Stage 2 has fallen significantly short of the corporate 
target and the Directorate will carry out a more detailed review of its complaints handling to 
understand the reasons for this. The number of complaints escalated to Stage 3 has nearly 
doubled from 9 to 17. All were responded to on time. 

 Increased escalation to Stages 2 and 3 was also associated with a higher level of 
complaints upheld at these stages, indicating that resolution could have been achieved 
earlier in the complaints process, thus preventing escalation. The reasons for this will be 
investigated as part of the Directorate’s review of complaints handling.

 The number of complaints received by different services within the Directorate varies 
greatly, with predominantly internal facing services receiving relatively few complaints whilst 
services receiving a higher number of complaints tend to be customer facing. The exception 
to this is the Idea Store service, which despite receiving nearly 2m visits per year, received 
only 14 complaints, reflecting high levels of customer satisfaction as reported in the Annual 
Residents Survey.

 For most services within the Directorate (Insurance, HR, ICT, Audit, Business Rates, Idea 
Store) complaint numbers are not sufficiently high to draw strategic conclusions about 
service performance. The forthcoming review of complaints handling in the Directorate will 
therefore primarily focus on customer facing areas with higher levels of complaints. The 
Directorate is leading the corporate improvement work in relation to customer access 
through the contact centre integration and changes to face to face services by drawing on 
the high levels of customer satisfaction with Idea Stores. These projects are expected to 

Page 44



29 | P a g e

significantly improve the customer experience. A quality assurance process has also been 
introduced to ensure complaints’ responses are of the highest standard.

5.58. Tower Hamlets Homes (THH)

 There has been a significant reduction in the complaints for Decent Homes and also for 
Repairs Mechanical and Electrical team.  The largest proportions of complaints relate to 
the repairs service – This reflects the fact that the majority of transactions dealt with by 
THH relate to this service area and to place the level of complaints with in context it is 
of note that in 2016/17 the repairs call centre dealt with 115210 calls and raised 59,575 
repair orders. There has been an increase in complaints for Housing Service Centre 
and this is mainly due to parking issues and also Leasehold Services.

 There has been a significant reduction in Stage 2 complaints in 2016/17 compared to 
2015/16. This has been achieved by recording and tracking follow up actions in 
iCasework for Stage 1 complaints. This has been across all service areas with the 
exception of Repairs Mechanical and Electrical mainly due to delays in repairing door 
entry systems due to obsolete parts, failure of communal heating and hot water 
systems and noise issues from plant rooms. 

 There were fewer Stage 3 complaints in 2016/17 compared to 2015/16. There has 
been an increase in Stage 3 Repairs Mechanical and Electrical cases.  Again this is 
mainly regarding delays in repairing door entry systems due to obsolete parts, failure of 
communal heating and hot water systems and noise issues from plant rooms. 

Some of the key areas of focus from THH in the year ahead will be: 

 Emphasis for all service areas on ‘Getting It Sorted’ to ensure complaints are resolved 
quickly and efficiently without the need for investigations or written response.

 Train the Housing Service Centre to log, assess and acknowledge complaints and 
Member Enquiries via iCasework before implementation of the proposed Business 
Development restructure which recommends a smaller central Complaints and 
Members Enquiry Team. 

 Service areas to robustly monitor and manage team performance to prevent cases 
missing target and completing corrective actions. 

5.59. Complaints Service User Profiles

The complaints service can be accessed by email, in person, phone, post, and web-form.  A 
breakdown of access methods is provided in Figure 15 below.
Figure 15

Breakdown of Stage 1  how complaints are received

 2015/16 2016/17

Email 1787 46% 1515 40%
Web / Self Service 839 22% 1404 37%
Post 170 4% 101 3%
Phone 1054 27% 778 20%
In Person 20 1% 13 0%

Total Complaints 3870  3811  

Page 45



30 | P a g e

5.60. Web usage and email increased significantly and this has been driven by the new software 
with its web form. Combined email and web form submitted complaints for 2015/16 was 
68% and this has now increased in 2016/17 to 77%. Phone contact still remains a 
significant part of the service however it would appear that the drop of 7% has been the 
increase in the use of the internet.     

5.61. Equality data is difficult to obtain to undertake detailed analysis. and Collection rates vary 
despite the option to submit data on the complaint web-form, the data is gathered is low to 
enable a  meaningful analysis for some strands (e.g. religion and sexual orientation).  

5.62. The level of non-response presents challenges in terms of equality analysis.  For example, 
Figure 16 sets out a breakdown of complaints by reference to ethnicity and information is 
only available for 22% of complainants. This means that this dataset is not robust enough to 
allow any conclusions to be drawn. However, with the increase use of the web form, which 
has a monitoring section it is evident that many people are unwilling to complete this 
information.

Figure 16

Stage 1 Complaints by Ethnicity 

 2016/17 Adult 2011 Census

Asian 126 3.31% 35.2%
Black 44 1.15% 6.7%
Mixed /Dual Heritage 266 6.98% 3.2%
Other 23 0.60% 2.4%
White 376 9.87% 52.5%

Sub Total 835 21.91%  
Prefer Not to Say 812 21.31%  
Not Known 2164 56.78%  

Total 3811   

Page 46



31 | P a g e

6 ADULTS SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS 

6.1 Procedure, volumes and timeliness

The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) 
Regulations 2009, made under the Health and Social Care (Community Health and 
Standards) Act 2003, set out the process for considering adult social care and health 
complaints.  The key principles require Local Authorities to:-

 consider adult social care complaints once only; 
 involve the complainant in agreeing the method and likely timeframe for the 

investigation;
 establish desired outcomes; and
 Provide a unified approach to joint investigations with partner bodies.

6.2 The current statutory complaint procedure can be found on the website.  There is a strong 
emphasis on the informal resolution of complaints and in assisting social care teams in 
effectively managing and resolving complaints.

6.3 Some matters will be raised directly with the service and resolved without recourse to a 
formal complaint procedure.  These can include concerns made to commissioned providers 
that require investigation or action to be taken by a Council service.  These locally resolved 
concerns may address different issues to those raise through the statutory process.

6.4 The statutory procedure allows one stage of investigation only, although the form this takes 
is agreed in the light of the issues raised.  A variety of methods have been used, including 
round table meetings, formal interview and file reviews, and liaison between the service 
manager and the complainant.  Key to resolving matters has been the emphasis on 
identifying a resolution plan with the complainant.

6.5 Figure 17 below compares the year on year volumes, showing a 13% increase.. 

Figure 17
Volume of Adult Social Care Complaints

 2015/16 2016/17 Variance
Total Complaints 52 59 7 13%

Page 47



32 | P a g e

Figure 18
Adults Social Care Complaints Volume and Outcomes

 

Communication 
cause

Payments / 
Charges

Policy / 
Procedure

Service 
Issues

Service 
quality

Staff 
conduct 
cause

Total
Upheld & 

Partly 
upheld

Community Learning 
Disabilities 1   5  2 8 7 0.875
Community Mental 
Health    5 1  6 2 33%
Delivery 
Transformation and 
Independence 1      1 1 100%
Hospital and 
Community 
Integrated Services 4  2 9   15 11 73%
Mental Health Older 
People 1   3   4 4 100%
Occupational 
Therapy    6 1  7 3 43%
Personalisation 
Resources and 
Review 2 2 2 11  1 18 13 72%

Total 9 2 4 39 2 3 59 41 69%

6.6 Figure 18 above is a cross-tab report by Service and Cause with outcomes shows the 
breakdown by service issue and cause.

6.7 The Complaints Procedure does not specify timescales for completion, as these are agreed 
at the outset of each case.  In order to provide monitoring information we are capturing data 
of complaints closed within 10 working days, 20 workings days and those over this. 30 
(44%) of the complaints were completed within 20 working days.  This is a drop against last 
year’s performance.

Figure 19
Adults Social Care Stage 1 Complaints - By Performance     

Complaints Answered Totals 
Answered 
within 10 

working days

Answered 
within 20 

working days
Answered over  20 

working days
Average Days to 

Complete

2015/16 52 23 44% 31 60% 21 40% 29

2016/17 59 13 22% 26 44% 33 56% 31

6.8 Figure 19 also demonstrates that the average number of working days to complete has 
increased from 29 to 31. 

6.9 Access and Profiles

6.10 The method of how people are making complaints has changed slightly, but as the numbers 
involved are relatively small it is difficult to draw any conclusions on this.

6.11 Summary of key issues in upheld cases

6 cases were partly upheld due to a failure or delay in delivering a service and 1 was 
upheld.  

Page 48



33 | P a g e

1complaint concerned the procedure in which a request for an assessment was handled.

There were 2 complaints about poor communication in keeping family members informed 
about the service user’s care.

1 case concerned the actions and statements of an officer during a home visit. 

One complaint highlighted mistakes and lack of clarity in relation to the referral process.

Page 49



34 | P a g e

7. CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS

8.6 Procedures

There is a legal requirement under the Children Act 1989 for local authorities to have a 
system for receiving representations and complaints by, or on behalf of, people who use 
social care services and their carers.

8.7 The Children’s Complaints Procedure has three stages –

 Stage 1 Complaints – Initial:  Team Managers are required to provide a written 
response to complaints within 10 working days.  There is a possible extension to 20 
working days to allow for a local resolution and where complaints are complex.

 Stage 2 Complaints – Formal:  Investigations should be completed within 25 
working days.  However this can be extended to 65 working days in negotiation with 
the complainant due to the complexity of complaints.  An Independent Person is 
appointed to oversee formal complaints at Stage 2 relating to children and young 
people.  This is a legislative requirement under the Children Act 1989 and ensures 
that there is an impartial element.  The report is passed to the Head of Service and 
an internal adjudication meeting is held before the report and outcomes are shared 
with the service user.

 Stage 3 Complaints – Independent Review Panel:  An Independent Review Panel 
can review the case in the presence of the complainant and Service Head, and 
where appropriate make recommendations to the relevant Director. 

8.8 Complaint volumes

The number of children’s social care complaints fell in 2016/2017 as shown in Figure 20, 
there is no clear explanation for this. 

Figure 20
Volume of Children's Social Care Complaints

Year 2015/16 2016/17 Variance
Stage 1 64 55 -9 -14%

Stage 2 8 12 4 50%

Review Panel 2 2 0 0%

8.9 Complaint Response Times

Figure 21 sets out the response times for Stage 1 complaints.  It shows that 36% of Stage 1 
complaints in Children’s Social Care were answered within the 10 working day time scale, 
and 73% completed in the extended time scale.  This is an improvement compared to last 
year.

Figure 21
Children's Social Care Stage 1 Complaints - By Performance

Complaints Answered Totals 
Answered 
within 10 

working days

Answered 
within 20 

working days

Answered 
outside 

timescale
Average Days to Complete

2015/16 64 21 33% 32 50% 32 50% 34

2016/17 55 20 36% 40 73% 15 27% 17

Page 50



35 | P a g e

8.10 There were 12 Stage 2 complaints this period with an average response time of 130 
working days.

Figure 22
Children's Social Care Stage 2 Complaints - By Performance

Complaints Answered Totals 
Answered 
within 25 
working 

days

Answered 
within 65 
working 

days

Answered 
outside 

timescale
Average Days to Complete

2015/16 8 1 13% 1 13% 7 88% 112

2016/17 12 1 8% 3 25% 8 67% 130

8.11 Complaints in Children’s Social Care are often complex and the regulations require 
the Council to appoint an independent person to oversee the investigation.  This 
can create challenges in managing response times.  However, the Complaints and 
Information Team continues to strive to improve this performance and works closely 
with the Children’s Rights Officer to ensure effective liaison with the young person. 

8.12 There were 2 Stage 3 review panels in August 2016 and September 2016.  The 
complaint in the Children Specialist Services was upheld.  The complaint in the 
Child Protection and Reviewing Service was partly upheld.

8.13 Complaints by Service

The areas on which complaints have been recorded at each stage are set out in figure 23 
below.

Figure 23
Children's Social Care Stage 1 Complaints Volume and Outcomes 2016/17

 

Failure / 
Delay to 
deliver 
service

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of work 

or 
service

Rudeness 
or conduct Total

Upheld & 
Partly 
upheld

Assessment & 
Early Intervention 2    3 3 4 12 5 42%

Attendance & 
Welfare     1   1 0 0%

Child Protection 
& Reviewing      1 3 3 0 0%

Children 
Specialist 
Services

4  2 1 5 2 2 16 5 31%

Family 
Intervention 2       2 2 100%

Family Support & 
Protection 4 1 2 1 7 2 2 19 9 47%

Resources 
Children Social 
Care

      1 1 0 0%

Youth Offending 1       1 0 0%

Total 13 1 4 2 16 8 12 55 21 38%

Page 51



36 | P a g e

8.14 Summary of key issues in upheld complaints 

There were 10 complaints upheld or partly upheld. 

8.15 Four complaints for Assessment and Early intervention were partially upheld due to staff 
conduct. 

8.16 Two cases in Family Support and Protection and the Leaving Care Service were upheld due 
to payments for Family and Friends Allowance and savings for a care leaver not being 
made.

8.17 A further complaint in Child Protection and Reviewing concerned a delay in replying and 
resolving payments relating to Residence Order Allowance.

8.18 In a Looked After Children case there were communication problems regarding contact 
visits for the grandparents. 

8.19 On the stage 2 complaints

One upheld concern was that a report for review meeting was not provided with sufficient 
time for the parent to prepare for the meeting and the parent has a known learning difficulty.

8.20 Another complex case found that there were delays in resolving concerns with managers at 
a local level which could have prevented escalation and a failure of the IRO to discuss the 
proposed content of a report with a foster parent before it was committed to writing.

8.21 One of the two stage 3 panels was upheld in part.

It was found, that there was a lapse in service in providing support and practical assistance 
to a mother when her disabled child was not in school, transport to school for another child 
and consulting the mother and providing a copy of the Carer’s assessment and keeping her 
updated on the referral to another borough.

The service sent a further specific letter of apology acknowledging where actions could 
have better completed and offered compensation for the stress caused and disruption to the 
children’s educational needs.

Page 52



37 | P a g e

7 LOCAL GOVERNMENT OMBUDSMAN AND HOUSING OMBUDSMAN COMPLAINTS 

The Local Government Ombudsman is an independent watchdog appointed to oversee the 
administration of local authorities.  The LGO considers complaints (usually) after the 
complainant has exhausted the internal complaints procedure, or the adults’ or children’s 
complaints procedures, as appropriate.  The LGO also deals with education matters. 

8.6 In 2016/17 the LGO received 114 complaints, and compared to London Boroughs (with 1st 
as high volume) Tower Hamlets ranked 14th.. The volumes fell significantly from 149 to 114 
which is a 23% decrease

 

8.7 Figure 24 is a breakdown of complaints received from the LGO with their categories. 

       Figure 24
LGO Complaints and Enquiries Received

Adult 
Care 

Services

Benefits 
and Tax

Corporate 
and Other 
Services

Education 
and 

Children's 
Services

Environmental 
Services

Highways 
and 

Transport

Housing Planning 
and 

development

Other Total

2016/17 10 13 10 14 12 14 33 7 1 114

2015/16 10 19 11 22 13 19 48 6 1 149

2014/15 12 15 7 13 6 29 9 37 0 128

8.8 Complaints Closed by the Ombudsman

As can be seen in Figure 25, 106 complaints were determined, which is a significant 
reduction from the previous year, The LGO’s focus is on where an investigation took place. 
These are then noted as upheld or not upheld.  In 19 of these 31 cases some element of 
the complaint was upheld and 12 were not upheld. 40 cases were referred back to the 
Council as premature. 22 cases were dismissed after preliminary enquiries with the Council 
or on the basis of the information provided by the complainant. 

       Figure 25
LGO Decisions Made

Detailed 
investigation

Other 

Upheld Not 
upheld 

Advice 
given 

Closed 
after initial 
enquiries

Incomplete 
/Invalid 

Referred 
back for local 

resolution

Total

2016/17 19 12 11 22 2 40 106
2015/16 9 13 11 35 7 78 153
2014/15 11 12 4 34 4 57 122

8.9 The Ombudsman ranks Local Authorities on the percentage of the complaints they formally 
investigate that were upheld. 

Page 53



38 | P a g e

Figure 26
Hi

lli
ng

do
n

Is
lin

gt
on

Ri
ch

m
on

d 
up

on
 T

ha
m

es

W
an

ds
w

or
th

Ea
lin

g

Cr
oy

do
n

M
er

to
n

Gr
ee

nw
ic

h

Ca
m

de
n

Re
db

rid
ge

Be
xl

ey

Ha
ve

rin
g

Ba
rn

et

Ha
m

m
er

sm
ith

 &
 F

ul
ha

m

Su
tt

on

Br
om

le
y

Ha
ck

ne
y

To
w

er
 H

am
le

ts

En
fie

ld

W
al

th
am

 F
or

es
t

So
ut

hw
ar

k

Ki
ng

st
on

 u
po

n 
Th

am
es

Ho
un

slo
w

Ha
rr

ow

Ba
rk

in
g 

&
 D

ag
en

ha
m

Ci
ty

 o
f L

on
do

n

Ke
ns

in
gt

on
 &

 C
he

lse
a

Br
en

t

Le
w

ish
am

N
ew

ha
m

La
m

be
th

Ha
rin

ge
y

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Percentage Uphold 

8.10 Figure 26 shows that Tower Hamlets had 61% of those case investigated upheld, with the 
highest percentages reaching 75%. Tower Hamlets is now ranked 18th as lowest upheld 
compared to 13th in 2015/16.  Please note this will also include complaints where the 
Council had already recognised the issue and remedied it. 

8.11 The overall volume of complaints considered varies across the boroughs. Tower Hamlets 
ranks 27 out of 33 for the fewest Ombudsman enquiries and complaints, as shown in figure 
29 below. 

Page 54



39 | P a g e

Figure 27
Ci

ty
 o

f L
on

do
n

Su
tt

on
Ri

ch
m

on
d 

up
on

 T
ha

m
es

Ke
ns

in
gt

on
 &

 C
he

lse
a

Ha
m

m
er

sm
ith

 &
 F

ul
ha

m
Ki

ng
st

on
 u

po
n 

Th
am

es
Be

xl
ey

W
an

ds
w

or
th

M
er

to
n

Ha
ve

rin
g

To
w

er
 H

am
le

ts
Is

lin
gt

on
Ca

m
de

n
Ba

rk
in

g 
&

 D
ag

en
ha

m
Ha

rr
ow

Hi
lli

ng
do

n
Re

db
rid

ge
Gr

ee
nw

ic
h

En
fie

ld
Le

w
ish

am
W

al
th

am
 F

or
es

t
Ha

ck
ne

y
Ho

un
slo

w
So

ut
hw

ar
k

Br
en

t
Br

om
le

y
Ba

rn
et

N
ew

ha
m

Cr
oy

do
n

Ea
lin

g
Ha

rin
ge

y
La

m
be

th

0

50

100

150

200

250

Total Cases Determined

8.12 A report on the upheld Ombudsman complaints is appended, where details of the issues 
and action taken are set out. 

8.13 The Housing Ombudsman considers most housing complaints, and in particular tenancy 
issues. The Housing Ombudsman’s Office do not classify complaint outcomes in the same 
way as the LGO, and prefer to seek local resolution in as many cases as possible.  

8.14 Figure 28 shows the changes in volumes over the last 3 years 

Figure 28

Housing Ombudsman Complaints 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Enquiry 1 17 20

Premature 3 16 18

Determination 0 2 13

Total 4 35 51

8.15 Below in Figure 29 is a breakdown of the cases determined by the Housing Ombudsman for 
2016/17.  The Housing Ombudsman has changed the outcomes categories in 2016/17 so it 
is not possible to carry out a comparison. 

Figure 29

Cases Determined by Housing Ombudsman in 2016/17
Maladministration Partial 

Maladministration
No 
Maladministration

Redress Resolved With 
Intervention

OSJ Total 
Determinations

6 1 1 3 1 1 13

Page 55



40 | P a g e

8 IMPROVEMENT INITIATIVES

8.1 External relationships

We participate in the Data Share London, a London Councils initiative and  Information 
Security for London, the London Information Rights Forum and the Information and Records 
Management Society Local Government group meetings to share good practice and 
guidance’s

8.2 As members of the Public Sector Complaints Network (for Corporate Complaints), and 
regional networks for Social Care complaints, the team work with other authorities on key 
policy and practice issues in terms of complaints handling.

8.3 The team is the organisation’s link point to the Local Government Ombudsman, Housing 
Ombudsman and Information Commissioner’s Office, leading on all communication, case 
management and best practice updates.

8.4 Monitoring Complaints

Weekly outstanding lists for complaints and information requests are available for Directors 
and Service Heads. Detailed monthly monitoring is also provided to the Corporate 
Management Team and Directorate Leadership Teams.

8.5 Publicity

Complaints publicity is widely available to ensure effective access across the community.  
This includes linking with the voluntary sector or third sector agencies topromote access.  In 
addition the team measure knowledge within the local community of how to access the 
procedures to ensure the effectiveness of publicity.

8.6 The complaints procedures for Adults’ and Children’s Social Care place an increased 
emphasis on publicity in order to ensure that service users have a voice. We have a role in 
informing people of their right to complain and in empowering them to use the procedure 
effectively. To this end we engage with community groups to promote access and have joint 
publicity with NHS partners for social care, and working with the Children’s Rights Officer. .

8.7 Effective Learning Outcomes from Complaints

8.8 We ensure that lessons learned from complaints are highlighted and fed back to improve 
service delivery.  For example, complaints investigations have highlighted the need to 
review policy guidance, and the summaries of upheld cases are set out in this document.   
Lessons learned from complaint investigations are also fed back to staff in supervision to 
enable discussion about improvements, any additional training required and learning points. 

8.9 Equalities

Page 56



41 | P a g e

8.10 Issues and concerns on equalities issues are explored on an individual case basis and 
reported to the appropriate Corporate Director and there has been during this period.

Page 57



42 | P a g e

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents

Linked Report
 NONE 

APPENDICES

Appendix A – Corporate Complaints by Directorate charts
Appendix B – Ombudsman’s Annual Letter
Appendic C – Upheld Ombudsman Complaints

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer contact 
information.

 NONE 

Officer contact details for documents:
 Ruth Dowden x4162

Page 58



43 | P a g e

APPENDIX A – CORPORATE COMPLAINTS BY DIRECTORATE

Children's Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome 2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Parks & Trees 7  8 8  2 10  2 2 6 3 48 77% 63%

Arts and Events   1  4 1 3  13  4 2 28 75% 25%
Children Social 
Care   1  1 2   4 1 1 1 11 64% 9%

Leisure Centres       2     6 8 75% 100%
Pupil 
Admissions   3 1   1  1  1  7 86% 57%
Education 
Psychology and 
SEN   2      1  2  5 60% 20%

Youth Services       2 1 2    5 80% 40%
Early years 
support          1  2 3 67% 100%
Parent and 
Family Support 
Services          1 1 1 3 33% 100%
Children's All 
Other Issues        1    1 2 100% 50%
Contract 
Services 
Schools   1         1 2 100% 50%
Primary 
Achievment and 
Early Years       1     1 2 100% 0%
School 
Governance      1    1   2 50% 100%

Total 7 0 16 9 5 6 19 2 23 6 15 18 126 75% 50%

                

P
age 59



44 | P a g e

                

Children's Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome 2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Children Social 
Care         2  2  4 25% 0%

Youth Services       1  1 1   3 67% 67%
Education 
Psychology and 
SEN   1        1  2 100% 0%

Parks & Trees 1          1  2 50% 0%
Pupil 
Admissions         1  1  2 0% 0%
Children's All 
Other Issues        1     1 100% 100%

Leisure Centres            1 1 0% 0%
Parent and 
Family Support 
Services           1  1 0% 0%
Primary 
Achievment and 
Early Years         1    1 100% 0%

Total 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 5 1 6 1 17 47% 18%

                

P
age 60



45 | P a g e

              

Children's Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome 2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Children Social 
Care   1        1  2 50% 0%
Children's All 
Other Issues        1     1 100% 100%
Primary 
Achievment and 
Early Years         1    1 0% 0%

Total 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 4 50% 25%

  

P
age 61



46 | P a g e

Governance Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Complaints & 
Information   2   9 3  2 1 2 1 20 95% 5%

Legal Services   10  1    1 3 2  17 76% 47%

Registrars Office     4    1 6   11 55% 45%
Electoral 
Services   3 1 1  1     1 7 100% 14%
Corporate 
Communications   1    1  3 1   6 67% 0%
Committee 
Services       1      1 100% 100%
Governance All 
Other Issues          1   1 100% 100%

Total 0 0 16 1 6 9 6 0 7 12 4 2 63 81% 27%

  

P
age 62



47 | P a g e

                

Governance Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Legal Services     1     1   2 50% 0%
Corporate 
Communications          1   1 100% 0%

Member Support         1    1 100% 0%
Monitoring 
Officer 
Complaint            1 1 100% 0%

Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 2 0 1 5 80% 0%

  

                

Governance Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Legal Services   1       1   2 100% 50%
Complaints & 
Information           1  1 100% 100%

Registrars Office          1   1 100% 0%

Total 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 4 100% 50%

P
age 63



48 | P a g e

Health Adults and Community Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Adults Social 
Care  1     2    4 3 10 60% 60%
Commissioning 
and Health       3 1 1   1 6 67% 17%
Community 
Safety 1   1         2 50% 0%
Health Adults 
Community All 
Other Issues       1      1 0% 100%

Total 1 1 0 1 0 0 6 1 1 0 4 4 19 58% 42%

  

Health Adults and Community Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Adults Social 
Care  1           1 0% 0%
Commissioning 
and Health            1 1 100% 0%

Total 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 50% 0%

                

Health Adults and Community Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  0 na 0%

P
age 64



49 | P a g e

Place Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Parking 2 40 137 3 15 3 4 9 158 12 36 29 448 99% 10%

Dry recycling 2  176  6 2 31  17 6 11 3 254 88% 83%

Domestic refuse 3  131   9 28  3 6 23 4 207 90% 77%

Street cleansing 5  22 28  15 15  2 6 27 2 122 95% 52%
Waste and 
recycling other   20 6  7 19  17 27 8 4 108 90% 69%
ASB and 
THEOs 11  7 41 3 9 4  8 6 1 2 92 84% 10%
Food and 
garden recycling 1  54 1   7  3 10 2  78 94% 83%

Lettings  1 15 7 1 1 5  10 23 8 5 76 89% 45%
Road 
maintenance 
and repairs 22  9 4 1 13 16    5  70 87% 33%

Bulk waste   56 1   2  2 8   69 94% 80%
All Other 
Housing Options 
Issues   6 11 1 1 2  4 11 3 18 57 81% 30%

Planning   3 15 3  5  13 10 4 1 54 46% 28%

Pest Control 1 2 10    3  1 11 5 6 39 97% 38%

Pollution 6  3 11 3 2 2  2 4   33 91% 21%
Permissions and 
Licences 1  2 12  6 7  1 1 1  31 84% 13%

Building Control   11 6  2    7 2 1 29 31% 72%
Health and 
Housing 3  2 2 9 2  1 1 5 2  27 96% 30%

Road Design 6  2 4  5 4   2 1  24 79% 25%
Streets & 
Highways 5  5 4  5 2   2  1 24 96% 29%
Housing 
Management 
and 
Procurement   8 1     2 7 3 1 22 91% 50%

P
age 65



50 | P a g e

Markets Service   2 2 4 1 2  2 2  3 18 78% 11%

Homeless    4 4  3  1 3  1 16 100% 25%

Mobility   8      4 1 3  16 100% 13%

Waste contract   3  1 1 3    1 3 12 75% 83%
Car Free 
Developments     1    7 3   11 100% 0%
Commercial 
waste   2 1 2 2 1      8 100% 50%
Licensing - 
Commercial   3  2    1 2   8 100% 13%

Animal Wardens   1 2  1   1    5 60% 80%

Clinical waste   2    1   2   5 100% 80%
Corporate 
Property & 
Capital Delivery   1 2   1    1  5 80% 40%
Strategic 
Housing    3      2   5 80% 80%
Trading 
Standards 1    1     1  1 4 100% 25%
Economic 
Development         1 2   3 67% 67%

Food Safety    1 2        3 100% 0%
Road 
Construction 
Projects 1   1   1      3 67% 0%
Parks & Trees 
Upkeep       1     1 2 0% 100%

CCTV    1         1 0% 100%
Energy and 
Sustainable 
Development          1   1 0% 100%
Environmental 
Health & 
Trading 
Standards 1            1 100% 0%
Facilities 
Management    1         1 100% 0%
Passenger 
Transport            1 1 0% 0%

Total 71 43 701 175 59 87 169 10 261 183 147 87 1993 90% 45%

                

                

P
age 66



51 | P a g e

Place Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Parking  11 19  3   1 33 2 4 2 75 99% 12%

Domestic refuse   12   1 2   1 3  19 68% 79%

Lettings  1 3    1  5 5 1  16 81% 38%

Planning    1 1  1  3 5  1 12 67% 25%

Dry recycling   7       3 1  11 64% 100%
Waste and 
recycling other   2   2 3   2 1  10 90% 50%
All Other 
Housing Options 
Issues   2    2  1 1 1 2 9 100% 11%
Food and 
garden recycling   6       2 1  9 44% 78%

Building Control   4 1      1   6 33% 50%

Mobility   2 1     3    6 100% 17%

Street cleansing 1   1   1  1 1 1  6 83% 50%
Housing 
Management 
and 
Procurement   2 1      2   5 80% 40%
Road 
maintenance 
and repairs   2    2  1    5 40% 20%
ASB and 
THEOs   1 1     2    4 100% 25%
Health and 
Housing     1   1  2   4 100% 25%

Pest Control   2    1    1  4 100% 75%

Markets Service     2  1      3 100% 0%

Pollution          2   2 50% 100%

Road Design    1      1   2 100% 100%
Streets & 
Highways    1   1      2 100% 0%

Waste contract     1  1      2 100% 50%

P
age 67



52 | P a g e

Bulk waste   1          1 100% 0%
Car Free 
Developments         1    1 100% 0%
Commercial 
waste       1      1 0% 0%
Licensing - 
Commercial          1   1 100% 0%
Permissions and 
Licences       1      1 0% 0%

Total 1 12 65 8 8 3 18 2 50 31 14 5 217 83% 35%

                

P
age 68



53 | P a g e

Place Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017
Service Issue 1st Time 

Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Parking  8 8      9 1 1 2 29 100% 24%
All Other 
Housing Options 
Issues   2    2   1  1 6 83% 0%

Lettings  1     1  2 2   6 83% 33%
Food and 
garden recycling   4       1   5 100% 100%
ASB and 
THEOs   1      2    3 100% 33%

Domestic refuse   3          3 100% 33%
Health and 
Housing          3   3 100% 0%

Planning         1 2   3 67% 33%

Building Control   1       1   2 50% 50%

Mobility   2          2 100% 50%
Road 
maintenance 
and repairs       1  1    2 100% 0%

Street cleansing       1    1  2 100% 100%
Car Free 
Developments         1    1 0% 0%
Commercial 
waste       1      1 100% 0%

Homeless          1   1 0% 100%
Housing 
Management 
and 
Procurement    1         1 100% 0%

Pest Control           1  1 100% 0%
Strategy 
Regeneration & 
Sustainability       1      1 100% 0%
Streets & 
Highways    1         1 100% 0%

Total 0 9 21 2 0 0 7 0 16 12 3 3 73 92% 30%

P
age 69



54 | P a g e

Resources Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Council Tax 1 65 10 9 3 2 4 14 15 17 11 8 159 89% 35%

Benefits  11 22 1 9  2 7 30 17 4 8 111 97% 38%

Contact Centre   6 3   3   14 9 3 38 95% 63%

One Stop Shops  1 4    2  1 1 6 15 30 100% 70%

Insurance  3 1 5 1  3 1 2 1 2  19 89% 68%

Idea Stores   1  1  2   6 1 3 14 71% 71%
Human 
Resources   1  4     2 2 2 11 91% 45%
Risk 
Management & 
Audit    1 2 1 2   1 1 2 10 90% 20%

Business Rates  4    1   1 2  1 9 89% 67%

ICT          1 1  2 100% 50%
Resources All 
Other Issues          1   1 100% 100%

Total 1 84 45 19 20 4 18 22 49 63 37 42 404 92% 45%

                

P
age 70



55 | P a g e

                

Resources Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Benefits  3 6  1    8 5 2 1 26 81% 8%

Council Tax  7      1 2 1 1  12 75% 50%

Idea Stores   1  1     1 1  4 75% 25%

One Stop Shops         1   2 3 100% 33%
Risk 
Management & 
Audit            2 2 50% 0%

Business Rates          1   1 0% 0%
Human 
Resources            1 1 100% 0%

ICT          1   1 0% 100%

Insurance           1  1 100% 0%

Total 0 10 7 0 2 0 0 1 11 9 5 6 51 76% 22%

                

P
age 71



56 | P a g e

                

Resources Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017.

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

Benefits  1 2      3 1 1 1 9 100% 33%

Council Tax  3           3 100% 0%

Business Rates         1 1   2 100% 0%

Idea Stores   1          1 100% 100%

Insurance           1  1 100% 0%
Risk 
Management & 
Audit            1 1 100% 0%

Total 0 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 2 2 17 100% 24%

P
age 72



57 | P a g e

Tower Hamlets Homes Stage 1 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

THH Repairs 10 1 240 5 3 2 27  18 100 119 20 545 79% 46%
THH Decent 
Homes 3 1 59 10 3  14   27 33 2 152 84% 43%
THH Housing 
Management 11  26 7 3  14  6 27 13 5 112 85% 36%
THH Leasehold 
Services 1 6 13 4 2  3 3 4 17 8 5 66 71% 45%
THH Estate 
Parking 2  29  1  4  9 8 7 1 61 72% 43%
THH All Other 
Issues 9  10 4 2 5 4  2  2  38 95% 0%
THH RTB and 
Resales   18  2  10  1 3 1  35 31% 46%

THH ASB 12  11    5  1 2 1 2 34 65% 26%
THH Estate 
Facilities 1  7 3   2 1 2 6 8 2 32 75% 41%

THH Caretaking   10 3   6  1  7 1 28 96% 46%
THH Housing 
Service Centre   7    1   9 2 7 26 81% 69%

THH Rents   1 1 3  1 1 2 1 1 8 19 95% 21%

THH Drainage 1  9       1 4  15 73% 80%

THH New Build 1  2 1   2    3  9 67% 22%
THH Customer 
Resolutions 
Team   2   1    3 1  7 86% 43%
THH Estate 
Services   2       2  1 5 100% 40%
THH 
Environmental 
Services       1    1 2 4 75% 50%
THH Planned 
Maintenance   3    1      4 100% 75%

Total 51 8 449 38 19 8 95 5 46 206 211 56 1192 79% 43%

P
age 73



58 | P a g e

Tower Hamlets Homes Stage 2 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

THH Repairs 1  30    6  4 9 9 3 62 79% 65%
THH Decent 
Homes  1 3       6 4 1 15 73% 73%
THH Housing 
Management   2      2 3  1 8 25% 50%
THH Leasehold 
Services 1  2 1 1     1 2  8 50% 88%
THH RTB and 
Resales   4    2   1   7 29% 57%
THH Estate 
Parking   1      1    2 50% 100%

THH New Build   1 1         2 100% 50%
THH All Other 
Issues      1       1 0% 100%

THH ASB       1      1 100% 0%
THH Customer 
Resolutions 
Team          1   1 100% 100%

THH Drainage   1          1 100% 100%
THH 
Environmental 
Services            1 1 0% 0%
THH Estate 
Facilities         1    1 0% 0%

Total 2 1 44 2 1 1 9 0 8 21 15 6 110 67% 65%

P
age 74



59 | P a g e

Tower Hamlets Homes Stage 3 Complaints by Issue and Cause showing performance and outcome  2016-2017

Service Issue 1st Time 
Service 
Request 
via 
Complaint 
or 
Enquiry

Charges Failure 
/ Delay 
to 
deliver 
service

General 
Enquiry

Legal / 
Regulatory

Non 
Council 
Issues

Other 
service 
issues

Payments Policy / 
Procedure

Poor 
communications

Poor 
quality 
of 
work 
or 
service

Rudeness 
or 
conduct

Total  In 
time

Upheld/ 
Partly 
Upheld

THH Repairs 1  9    1  2 6 3  22 73% 64%
THH Decent 
Homes   1       2 3  6 67% 83%
THH Leasehold 
Services 1    1     1 1  4 75% 100%
THH RTB and 
Resales   3       1   4 75% 25%
THH Housing 
Management   1      1 1   3 100% 33%
THH Customer 
Resolutions 
Team          1   1 100% 0%

THH Drainage   1          1 100% 0%
THH Estate 
Facilities         1    1 100% 100%
THH Estate 
Parking         1    1 100% 0%

THH New Build         1    1 0% 0%

Total 2 0 15 0 1 0 1 0 6 12 7 0 44 75% 59%

P
age 75



60 | P a g e

Appendix B

Page 76



61 | P a g e

Page 77



62 | P a g e

Page 78



63 | P a g e

Page 79



64

P
age 80



65

Appendix C – Upheld Ombudsman Complaints 2016 - 2017
Reference Complaint Council Remedy / Action
Housing 

201516869 The complainant is a former leaseholder of 17 
Longford House and his complaint is about the ALMO’s 
handling of reports of a leak at the property and the 
amount of compensation offered.

Action

ALMO was found to have delayed action to be taken to deal 
with the reported leak but this was acknowledged at stage 
three and the compensation offered was reasonable.

No further action by the Ombudsman was needed.

Service Comments:

No further comments
201514966 Resident raised complaint about THH’s response to 

her reports of asbestos in her property during Decent 
Homes works and the removal of her children’s toys 
from the property.

THH delayed removing asbestos from the property and 
did not provide evidence that a full investigation had 
taken place on the issue. 

THH failed to take responsibility for the removal of the 
children’s toys and instead referred resident to the 
contractors.

Action

THH undertaking another asbestos survey and air test by an 
independent contractor with provision of report to the 
complainant within six weeks.

THH to write to complainant apologising and acknowledging 
the distress and inconvenience caused by its failings within 
28 days.

THH to pay the £1000 compensation offered in its letter to 
the Ombudsman within 28 days.

THH to pay £250 for the distress and inconvenience caused 
by failings in handling complaint.

THH to take steps that complainant receives response 
regarding compensation for lost toys

P
age 81



66

THH to carry out review of complaint with steps to be taken 
to avoid re-occurrence and provide this report to 
Ombudsman by 16 February 2017

Service Comments:

No further comments
16006931 Ms X alleges the Council failed to act on her behalf 

when she left and was evicted from a former tenancy 
and alleges fault in the Council’s handling of her 
complaint afterwards. There was fault because the 
Council’s recordkeeping was inadequate.

Action

Fault was found with the Council as recordkeeping was 
inadequate. However the identified fault did not cause Ms X 
significant injustice to warrant any further actions.

Service Comments:

No further comments

15019907 Mr Y complained that the Council’s decision to cancel 
his Right to Buy (RTB) application was procedurally 
incorrect. Mr Y says that would have been able to 
complete his purchase within the required timeframe, 
had the Council followed the correct procedures. Mr Y 
has since submitted a new RTB application but the 
value of his property has increased by £80,000.

Action

The Council to place Mr Y back into initial position and issue 
him with an offer to purchase the property at original 
valuation.

Service Comments:

The Council failed to issue a reminder letter once the 
deadline for Mr Y’s RTB acceptance had lapsed. This 
caused Mr Y to lose the opportunity to proceed with the sale 
at the agreed price.

The Council should remind its officers of the importance of 
issuing reminder letters, in line with the published 

P
age 82



67

Government guidance. 
Environmental Services and Public Protection and Regulation 

16011465 Ms X says the Council is at fault in its handling of her 
reports of noise nuisance and ASB from her 
neighbours. She says the Council refused to accept 
her reports and referred them to her RSL. Ms X also 
says the Council wrongly refused her request for a 
Community Trigger.

Action:

Some evidence of fault by the Council in how it considered 
Ms X’s request for a Community Trigger. However fault is 
not considered to alter the outcome of Ms X’s appeal as she 
did not meet the criteria.

Service Comments:

No further comments.

P
age 83



68

16007428 Mr A complained about ongoing failure to collect 
rubbish and failure to respond to reports for missed 
collections. This is despite previous complaint being 
raised in 2015. There has also been failure to respond 
to complaints regarding vermin in the bin store.

Council has apologised and has put future measure in 
place to improve accessibility by removing a crossing 
on the road and minimise further injustice.

Action

 Mr A advised to report any further problems to the 
Council and back to the ombudsman who will 
consider reopening the complaint if appropriate.

 Council has taken appropriate action to resolve 
vermin issue and no further fault needed on this 
complaint

Service comments:

No further comments.

Parking 
16009283 Mr X complains that the Council provided incorrect 

information to him about transferring his parking permit 
which caused him to surrender his parking permit 
earlier than necessary and he was not entitled to a 
refund. 

Action

Investigation discontinued as any fault by the Council will not 
have caused significant enough injustice to Mr X to warrant 
pursuing his complaint any further.

Service Comments:

No further comments.
16009283 Mrs C complained about the way the council dealt with 

her application for a parking permit scheme. Mrs C 
says that she met all the relevant criteria but was 
refused a permit when she moved to a new property. 
There was fault found by the Council which caused 
injustice. Agreed action should be able to remedy Mrs 

Action

 Provide Mrs C with a permit at her current 
property

 Pay Mrs C £500 for the additional costs and 
inconvenience suffered during the period without 

P
age 84



69

C’s injustice. reasonable access to car

Service Comments:

No further comments.
Lettings and Homeless Services
16002048 Mr A is complaining about losing out on properties 

which he has bid for due to the Council forgetting to 
email him viewing appointment letters. The Council 
offered Mr A property which was unsuitable, will not let 
him have a property with internal stairs and temporarily 
removed his medical priority in May 2016. 

Mr A has been in position for three properties and 
twice missed out on viewings through no fault of his 
own.

Action

The Council has accepted fault and apologised to Mr A but 
this does not remedy the injustice to him.

The Council reinstated Mr A’s medical priority and did not 
penalise him for refusing one offer.

No fault found with the Council refusing to let Mr A have a 
property with internal stairs as the Council is entitled to 
follow recommendations from the medical adviser.

Council to offer Mr A the next suitable property he bids on as 
long as it meets any recommendations by the Council’s 
health adviser and there are no applicants in priority Band 
1A ahead of him who have bid on the property.

Service Comment:

No further comments
15020475 Mr A complained about the Council not dealing with his 

and his mother’s application for rehousing properly and 
raised the following points:

a. The response to the problem of disrepair and 
rodents has been inadequate.

Action

Points c, d and e to be investigated by the Council using the 
complaints procedure as Mr A did not pursue this initially for 
these parts.

Point a should be referred by Mr A to the Housing 

P
age 85



70

b. A previous carer reused disposable gloves and 
did not fill in the records properly. The agency 
sent this carer in May 2016 when the new 
regular carer was off.

c. The Council did not deal with him properly as a 
care leaver.

d. Mrs C’s mental health nurse was unsympathetic 
when he raised concerns about her environment 
including concerns about gangs and a smashed 
oven door. The nurse only stays 5 minutes 
when she visits.

e. There has not been a review of Mrs C’s care 
since August 2015.

Ombudsman

Point b and c do not warrant grounds for injustice to be 
investigated and as Mr A left care in 2010, it is too late and 
Mr A should have complained sooner.

Service Comments:

No fault found in the way the Council dealt with Mr A’s 
application for rehousing. Council acted in line with its 
published policy by refusing Mr A’s application due to 
previous eviction for rent arrears.

Fault found in the way an officer applied council policy for 
applicants seeking to move on welfare grounds. But this is 
not found to have caused and injustice and therefore no 
actions needed.

16006012 Mr J complained about the Council not giving him 
medical priority on its housing register. Mr J has 
depression and believes he should be in band 1 for 
medical needs. However the Council has placed in 
band 2 for overcrowding. Mr J does not have his own 
accommodation and says the Council has not 
considered his situation properly. He is worried that he 
will not be able to bid successfully for a property from 
band 2.

Action

There was some fault in the Council’s review decision. 
However, the Council reconsidered the decision with the 
relevant information which means Mr J did not experience in 
justice.

Service Comments:

No further comment

P
age 86



71

15013063 Ms X made a homeless application in May 2015 to 
which the Council took too long in reaching a proper 
decision. Overall the delay took over 9 months in 
reaching a decision before which Ms X could have 
been housed in permanent accommodation. Ms X had 
accommodation during this period but suffered 
significant distress and anxiety as a result of the 
ongoing uncertainty created by the delay. Ms X was 
also put to the time and trouble of a third review which 
was unnecessary.

Action

The council has already apologised to Ms X via Q Solicitors 
but will write directly to Ms at her new address apologising 
for the delay and the distress and anxiety caused.

The Council will offer Ms X a payment of £500 for the 
distress and anxiety suffered and to recognise the time and 
trouble spent with the third review.

Education & Children Services
16000520 Miss B complained that the Council failed to provide 

her and her nephew with appropriate support, including 
financial support, after he came to live with her in 2010. 
The Council agreed to investigate Miss B’s complaint 
further.

Action

Ombudsman investigation to cease whilst Council 
undertakes an investigation of Ms B’s complaint.

Service Comments:

No further comments.
15018561 Ms X complains the Council has refused to accept that 

in November 2010 it placed Y and her two brothers 
with her following concern that Y’s mother was unable 
to provide the children with suitable care. This would 
make the children ‘looked after children’ and Ms X their 
‘Family and Friends’ foster carer. From late December 
2010, Y continued to live with Ms X but she complains 
the Council failed to provide Y and her with appropriate 
support, including financial support. Fault has been 
found with the Council causing injustice.

Action

- Council to apologise to Ms X and Y for failings 
identified

- Council to pay Ms X as if she had been a family and 
friends foster carer (less any state benefits provided 
to Ms X for the children) for three children from 29 
November 2010 to 22 December 2010 and for one 
child from 23 December 2010 to the present day

- Council to pay Ms X £300 for the additional initial 
costs of caring for three children in November 2010 to 
reimburse her for expenses for items such as bedding 

P
age 87



72

and clothes and petrol to ensure children kept 
attending school not local to Ms X.

- Council to pay Ms X £500 for the legal advice she 
obtained in 2013 and 2014 for the Special 
Guardianship Order

- Council to meet Ms X to decide way forward 
regarding parental responsibility and check if Ms X 
still wishes to pursue a Special Guardianship Order

- Council to pay Ms X £500 for time and trouble caused 
with complaint not being resolved sooner

Service Comments:

Council should ensure it properly records requests for 
section 17 child in need support and how it assessed the 
situation before refusing to provide support.

Hold a management review to look at the impact of 
ombudsman’s findings on the decisions and placements 
made for the two older children. The children and their 
carers may have been adversely affected by the Council’s 
wrong assumption that it was a private family arrangement. 
The Council should assess if any injustice was caused and 
suggest an appropriate remedy for the carer and the 
children. Council to report findings back to the Ombudsman.

Benefits and Tax
16012694 Mr and Mrs X complained about the Council’s 

assessment of her benefit entitlement. The Council say 
that an overpayment of housing benefit was created 
from March 2016 to November 2016 because of the 
Council’s understanding of the financial position of their 
children. However Council now accepts this was an 
error and have reversed the decision with no financial 

Action:

Ombudsman did not investigate the complaint due to 
insufficient injustice to warrant investigation and a right to 
appeal existed but was not pursued by Mr and Mrs X.

P
age 88



73

loss caused to Mr and Mrs X. 
16007892 Ms B complains that the Council failed to deal with 

council tax matters properly. In particular the Council:
- wrongly transferred council tax liability to her 

when her company went into liquidation
- did not respond to her emails from early 2104 – 

January 2016
- has not taken into account that she is not 

personally liable for the company arrears and so 
is not liable for council tax on these properties

- continued to take bailiff action despite assuring 
that it would not

Council has admitted that it failed to respond to Ms B’s 
correspondence and took too long to investigate her 
liability for council tax. It was also unclear as to how 
long it would suspend bailiff action. The Council’s offer 
to waive enforcement fees and to review her accounts 
is a reasonable settlement of her complaint.

Action

There is fault by the Council because it took too long to 
respond to Ms B’s concerns and allowed its bailiffs to 
continue collecting the arrears when it said it would suspend 
recovery action. The Council’s offer to waive the 
enforcement fees and to review her accounts is a 
reasonable settlement of her complaint.

Service Comments:

No further comments.

15018440 Mrs X complained that the Council wrongly decided 
that her son was living with her between 2001 and 
January 2015 and therefore wrongly pursued her for 
Council Tax arrears and housing benefit overpayment.

The Council failed to deal with Mrs X’s appeal against 
its decision that she had been overpaid. As a result 
Mrs X lost the opportunity to appeal to an independent 
tribunal. Council agreed to remedy this injustice by 
dealing with Mrs X’s appeal.

Action

Council to deal with Mrs X’s letter of 2 February 2015 as an 
appeal against the decision that she has been overpaid 
housing and council tax benefit and council tax reduction 
and forward it to the appropriate tribunals.

Service Comments:

No further comments.
Planning and Development
15017453 Mr A says the Council has failed to resolve problems 

caused by a neighbouring restaurant. Mr A says that 
issues have been ongoing since 2014 and include the 
venue operating outside the permitted hours causing 

Action

 Sending a letter of apology to Mr A
 Share the lessons learnt with Officers to prevent 

P
age 89



74

parking congestion in his street and his disabled 
parking bay has been used by people visiting the 
restaurant. Evidence of fault has been found on part of 
the Council with the significant delay referring the case 
to Planning which meant Mr A had to wait several 
months longer than necessary to find out whether 
Planning could assist him. That delay and poor service 
is not acceptable. 

similar failings re-occurring
 Explain whether delays with planning 

investigations have now been rectified
 Level of injustice is limited as once Planning 

Officer carried out the investigation it was clear 
there was no enforcement case to be pursued

Service Comments:

The Council confirmed action is being taken about delays 
which were caused by an increase in workloads.

Corporate and other services
16002250 Mr Y says Council Officers failed to correctly assess 

his bid for a contract to sell ice cream in a park. Mr Y 
states his bid was unsuccessful because of fault and 
unprofessional conduct by Officers. Significant fault 
found with the Council. The Council agreed to reopen 
the tendering process and compensate Mr X for his 
time, trouble and lost opportunity.

Action

- Council already agreed to re-tender for the ice cream 
pitches. Mr Y was invited to submit his bid. 

- Council agreed to pay Mr Y £250 for time and trouble 
and £750 for lost opportunity

- Council to reconsider whether it is able to look at 
original tenders submitted in 2015 for the pitches Mr 
Y bid for to determine successful applicant had their 
scoring completed correctly

- Council to write to Mr Y and explain if re-evaluation 
will happen and reasons for decision.

- Council to discuss additional financial redress for lost 
earnings with Mr Y if found to have been successful 
in bid

- Issue Mr Y with a letter of apology and offer a 
meeting with senior officer to discuss any outstanding 
questions/concerns

Service Comments:

P
age 90



75

Council put together a report recommending actions to 
improve future tendering and evaluation processes. The 
Council has provided ombudsman with an action plan which 
shows those recommendations are being processed.

15018820 Mr R complained about the Council’s delay in 
allocating his flat with a number. He also complained 
about lack of updates from the Council which has 
caused him problems with a credit check and a letter 
the Royal Mail lost. Council apologised for the periods 
it did not keep Mr R updated but also faced challenges 
in finding the person (freeholder) whose authority it 
needed before it could begin the process of allocating 
a number. 

Action

There was delay and lack of communication from the 
Council that amounts to fault. But the injustice from this is 
not enough to warrant a remedy as the Council has already 
made apologies.

Service comments:

No further comments.

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Non-Executive Report of the:

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
23 November 2017 

Report of: Debbie Jones, Corporate Director Children’s 
Services 

Classification:
Unrestricted 

Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016-17 

Originating Officer(s) Layla Richards, Service Manager Policy, Programmes 
and Community Insight 

Wards affected All wards 

Summary
This report and its appendix set out the annual report of Tower Hamlets Local 
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB), which is a statutory requirement under the 
Children Act 2004 and Working Together to Safeguard Children Guidance 2015. The 
annual report sets out the Board’s governance arrangements, key safeguarding 
information and response to the Ofsted Review of LSCB undertaken in February 
2017.

Recommendations:

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the annual report from the Local Safeguarding Children Board for 
2016-17 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9.3



1. REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS

1.1 The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is required to publish an 
annual report on the effectiveness of child safeguarding arrangements and 
promoting the welfare of children in its locality, ensure the annual report is 
available within the professional and public domain. The LSCB annual report, 
which fulfils this responsibility, is appended to this paper.

2. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

2.1 There are no alternative options. It is a statutory requirement for the LSCB to 
report to the leader of the council (Mayor) along with the Chief Executive, the 
Borough Commander, the Crime and Policing Commissioner and Chair of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board on an annual basis.

3. DETAILS OF REPORT

3.1 Ofsted undertook a review of the LSCB in February 2017 and found it be 
‘inadequate’ as it was 'not discharging all of its statutory functions’. It was 
described to have a number of shortfalls including the LSCB Performance 
Dataset, which did not sufficiently focus on core business and its priorities, nor 
was it able to monitor the quality of front line practice. 

3.2 The LSCB has accepted Ofsted’s judgement and findings and as a result, the 
annual report is limited in its ability to reflect the full range of activities 
undertaken by the board and partner members and demonstrate it has been 
able to keep all children safe from harm.

3.3 The 2016-17 annual report is a departure from previous years in that it is not 
able to provide an assessment of the effectiveness of the local safeguarding 
arrangements. The condensed annual report excludes analysis of its 
performance in 2016-17. It focuses on explaining how the LSCB will respond 
to the findings of the Ofsted Review and its future direction. 

3.4 The content of the annual report includes its current governance information, 
local borough profile including key safeguarding information and setting out 
the national context for LSCBs in the near future. 

3.5 The LSCB will ensure next year’s report provides a full and detailed account 
of the areas of improvement and demonstrate it is able to challenge and hold 
its partners to account.

4. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

4.1 In response to Ofsted’s findings and recommendations, Tower Hamlets LSCB 
may experience increased costs in 2017-18 as part of its efforts to implement 

Page 94



the recommendations and the potential increase in the numbers of serious 
case reviews.

4.2 The 2017-18 cost is unquantified at this stage but is likely to be significantly 
higher than the circa. £86K incurred in 2016-17. Whilst the cost of running the 
LCSB is shared with partners, LBTH remains the highest contributor towards 
these costs.

5. LEGAL COMMENTS 

5.1 The Council’s functions in relation to children include an obligation under 
section 11 of the Children Act 2004 to make arrangements to ensure that its 
functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children.  

5.2 The Council has established the LSCB in accordance with its current 
obligation under section 13 of the Children Act 2004.  The LSCB carries out 
the following functions as prescribed in the Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards Regulations 2006 –

(a) developing policies and procedures for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children in Tower Hamlets;

(b) communicating to persons and bodies in Tower Hamlets the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children, raising their awareness 
of how this can best be done, and encouraging them to do so;

(c) monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of what is done by the 
authority and their Board partners individually and collectively to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children, and advising them on 
ways to improve;

(d) participating in the planning of services for children in the area of the 
authority; and

(e) undertaking reviews of serious cases and advising the authority and 
their Board partners on lessons to be learned.

5.3 Section 14A of the Children Act 2004 requires the LSCB Chair to 
publish an annual report on the effectiveness of child safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children in the local area. The statutory guidance 
‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’ published in March 2015 and 
updated on 16 February 2017 sets out that the annual report should be 
published in relation to the preceding financial year and should fit with local 
agencies’ planning, commissioning and budget cycles. The report should be 
submitted to the Chief Executive, Mayor, the local police and crime 
commissioner and the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

5.4    The annual report should provide a rigorous and transparent assessment of 
the performance and effectiveness of local services. It should identify areas 

Page 95



of weakness, the causes of those weaknesses and the action being taken to 
address them as well as other proposals for action. It is therefore 
appropriate that the report addresses the concerns raised in respect of the 
LSCB in the Ofsted Review and action plan to improve child safeguarding 
practice. The report should include lessons from reviews undertaken within 
the reporting period. The appended report complies with these 
requirements.

5.5    Please note that when Chapter 2 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 
comes into force, this will make changes to the arrangements for local child 
safeguarding partnerships and the serious case review process, including 
provision for a central Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel for cases 
of national importance. The commencement date for these sections has not 
yet been published.

5.6    In particular, section 16 of the Act will introduce a new section to the Children 
Act 2004, setting out revised arrangements for local multi-agency 
safeguarding partnerships to replace the previous model of local 
safeguarding children boards (LSCBs). Under the new provisions, 
safeguarding partners for a local authority area (named as the local 
authority, clinical commissioning group and police) are required to make 
arrangements for themselves and relevant agencies to work together in 
exercising their functions for the purpose of safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children in the area.

6. ONE TOWER HAMLETS CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 The report sets out safeguarding issues for children in Tower Hamlets and 
how the LSCB intends to address them, ensuring that, all children are 
appropriately safeguarded at all times and are able to achieve a good level of 
wellbeing. 

7. BEST VALUE (BV) IMPLICATIONS

7.1 There are no implications.

8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT

8.2    There are no implications.

9. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The LSCB maintains a Risk and Issues Register, capturing risks as identified 
by a member agency or the LSCB Independent Chair. The LSCB chair and 
Executive Board members monitor the risks, mitigation and remedial actions.

9.2 The LSCB chair escalates risks causing significant partnership concern or 
difficulties to the chief executive or senior officer of the relevant agency. The 

Page 96



LSCB chair updates the council’s chief executive of the LSCB risk register at 
quarterly one-to-one meetings.

10. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Safeguarding has an important interface with crime and disorder. Effective 
safeguarding means that children and young people are safe from harm 
caused by crime, for example abuse and exploitation. The report sets out how 
the work of the LSCB links with that of the Community Safety Partnership. 

____________________________________

Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents

Linked Report
 NONE

Appendices
 Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016-17

Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100D (As amended)
List of “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report
List any background documents not already in the public domain including officer 
contact information.
 NONE

Officer contact details for documents:
 N/A

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Tower Hamlets LSCB 

Annual Report 2016/17
Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility

Keeping children safe in  
Tower Hamlets

P
age 99

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk
http://www.childrenandfamiliestrust.co.uk/the-lscb/


Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility2

Contents 

Section One

Section Two

Section Three

Section Four

P
age 100



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility3

I am the Independent Chair of the 
Safeguarding Children Board and took up 
my role in November last year.  I would like to 
thank Sarah Baker, the previous chair, for all 
her hard work.

This annual report has been written following 
a recent Ofsted inspection in to both Tower 
Hamlets children’s social care and a review 
of Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children 
Board.  In both cases, Ofsted have graded 
the organisations as “inadequate”.  This 
is the lowest grading. The Metropolitan 
Police received a highly critical report on 
child safeguarding from Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary (a London 
wide report that was not specific to Tower 
Hamlets) and colleagues at Barts Health 
NHS Trust have been in special measures 
since their CQC inspection in 2015.

Against this backdrop it would not be 
appropriate to produce an annual report that 
attempts to demonstrate that our children 
are safeguarded to the standards we would 
hope.  Whilst there has been some really 
good work, carried out by both individuals 
and organisations, this is overshadowed by 
the recent inspections.

As a result of the Ofsted inspection, Tower 
Hamlets Council now has an Improvement 
Board to oversee the necessary changes 
in children’s services.  The improvements 
will not be made by the local authority 
alone.  All of the agencies engaged in child 
safeguarding will need to play their part.  It is 
the job of the safeguarding board to facilitate 
this collaborative approach.

I appreciate that for front line professionals, 
the additional pressures of an improvement 
programme will make for a very challenging 
year ahead.  I have met some outstanding 
individuals and I am confident that together 
we can meet the expectations that children, 
young people, families and carers have of 
our safeguarding services.

The safeguarding board has been  
re-designed and will focus on holding 

agencies to account and ensuring that 
agencies work together in the best interests 
of our children and young people.  We know 
that Tower Hamlets can be a challenging 
environment for children and young people.  
Agencies need to improve services and step 
up to these challenges. 

As a result of this year’s inspection, the 
annual report focuses on the improvements 
to be made and the way the board is dealing 
with those challenges.

I do thank all of those engaged in 
safeguarding our children in these 
challenging times, especially those voluntary 
services who do so much to support our 
children, young people and families.

I look forward to reporting progress in my 
report next year.

  

Stephen Ashley

Independent Chair
Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board

Chair’s Foreword

P
age 101



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility4

KEEPING CHILDREN SAFE IN TOWER HAMLETS 2016-17
The Local Safeguarding Children Board is here to help keep children and young people free from abuse or neglect.

POPULATION EDUCATION
VULNERABLE  
CHILDREN

CHILDREN LOOKED 
AFTER

CHILDREN PROTECTED

304,900
Fasted growing local authority 
in the UK – first time it has 
exceeded 300,000 since World War II

32% Bangladeshi and 31% White 
British make up our top two groups

12.4% of White Other (Eastern/
Western Europeans) is the third 
largest and fastest growing ethnic 
minority group

9 in 10 pupils attending  
school is from an ethnic minority group

53% were eligible for free 
school meals making it the  
highest in the country

62% achieved a good level  
of development at age 5

62% achieve expected KS2  
levels in Reading, Writing and  
Maths at the end of primary school 
- above the national average of 54%

57.1% of pupils in 2016 achieved 5 grade 
A*-C passes

Most children grow up 
safe, happy and well. 
However, a small 
number of children 
and young people 
face some serious 
challenges in their lives.

61 young people were referred to 
multi-agency sexual exploitation 
panel – the average were 14 year  
old females

238 incidents of children missing 
from care

176 incidents of children missing 
from home

25 potential victims of trafficking 
were identified 

36 child deaths reported this year 
of which majority were expected (life 
limiting illness) and under the age of 1

1 serious case review was published 
on the LSCB website

333 children were looked  
after by the local authority

43 were under 5
48 were aged 5 to 9
122 were aged 10 to 15 
120 were aged 16 to 17

18 children live
in private fostering 
arrangement

1,417child protection investigations  
were carried out

388 children were  
subject to a child protection  
plan at the end of  
March 2017 under the  
following categories:

Sexual Abuse - 15
Emotional Abuse - 182
Neglect - 105
Physical Abuse - 74
Multiple Abuse - 12

20% of our population 
are under 16

26.6% of households 
have dependent 
children

49% of children 
continue to live in 
poverty

Children living with domestic 
abuse continue to be the most 
common reason why children 
become subject to child 
protection plans under the 
category of domestic abuse.

18 children remained subject 
to child protection plans 
lasting 2 years due to neglect 
at home

62%

P
age 102

http://www.childrenandfamiliestrust.co.uk/the-lscb/


Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility5

KEEPING CHILDREN SAFE IN TOWER HAMLETS 2016-17
The Local Safeguarding Children Board is here to help keep children and young people free from abuse or neglect.

ACTIVITY OVER THE 
LAST YEAR

PRIORITIES FOR 2017-18
It is critical that the future priorities for the LSCB focuses on those areas that will directly impact on 
frontline practice and the support given to families and children. 

 
EARLY HELP SUPPORT  
WITH PARENTS/CARERS
200 parent/carers 
attended the Annual  
Parent Conference on 
‘keeping our children  
safe and well’

669 parent/carers 
accessed advice/information to  
support their child’s school transition

32,591 unique visits to the Local Offer 
website

31 Parent Ambassadors were trained and 
actively delivering healthy eating sessions in 
schools

15,550 contacts made with the Family 
Information Service 

250 plus members on the Parent and Carer 
Council regularly contribute to help shape 
council services for families

For more information, visit www.lscb-towerhamlets.co.uk

Priority 1 - 
Performance & 
Audit 

• Will monitor the quality 
of front line practice 
through an improved and 
robust statistical analysis 
of child protection 
performance and partner 
agency intelligence for 
emerging safeguarding 
issues

• Will ensure there is 
effective inter-agency 
scrutiny, a culture of 
information sharing 
and constructive 
challenge through quality 
assurance

Priority 3 - Learning 
from Serious Case 
Reviews

• We will maintain an 
effective case review 
system that applies 
systemic approaches 
to reviewing critical 
incidents

• We will learn from 
the work partners 
do to enhance our 
collective safeguarding 
knowledge and 
practice 

Priority 2 - 
Situational 
awareness

• We will create 
systems-based 
leadership to 
drive safeguarding 
strategy and 
practice across key 
statutory partners 
and beyond

• We will create 
and foster 
opportunities for 
our safeguarding 
partners to 
identify barriers 
to partnership 
working

Priority 4 - 
Engagement 

• We will share 
listen and share 
learning with 
our local and 
professional 
communities

• We will involve 
and listen to what 
children & young 
people need

P
age 103

http://www.childrenandfamiliestrust.co.uk/the-lscb/


Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility6

The Tower Hamlets Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) has a statutory duty1  
to prepare and publish an annual report on 
its findings of safeguarding arrangements in 
the area:

“The chair of the LSBC must publish 
an annual report on the effectiveness 
of child safeguarding and promoting 
the welfare of children in the local 
area. The annual report should be 
published in relation to the preceding 
financial year….. The report should be 
submitted to the chief executive, leader 
of the Council, the local police and 
crime commissioner, and the chair of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board”

The Annual Report is published on the  
LSCB Website

Section 1
Introduction

Executive consolidates our borough profile and performance information to provide  
Summary a snapshot summary of this report.

Section 1 describes the legislative and local governance framework of Tower Hamlets  
 LSCB.

Section 2 provides local statistical and safegaurding information providing context for  
 our work in the borough.

Section 3 national and local context for LSCBs in general and what this means for 
sets out the: Tower Hamlets safeguarding responsibilities.

 provides a clear response to how we will tackle our shortfalls and strive to  
 improve the way in which we know children in the borough are protected  
 and safeguarded.

 sign-posts our direction of travel for the coming year and beyond.  
 Priorities for 2017-18 are singularly linked to the improvement journey of  
 Tower Hamlets Children’s Social Care and LSCB as a partnership body.

The year’s report is a departure from previous annual reports, which provided an assessment 
of our effectiveness. The ‘inadequate’ judgement made by Ofsted, following its review of Tower 
Hamlets LSCB in February 2016, imposes on us the need to focus on what we need to do to 
improve our local safeguarding arrangements alongside our key statutory partners. Therefore, 
the revised structure of this report is as follows:

1 Working Together to Safeguarding Children 2015 (DfE)

P
age 104

http://www.childrenandfamiliestrust.co.uk/the-lscb/


Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility7

Legal Context 

In April 2006, Tower Hamlets LSCB was 
established in response to statutory 
requirements under the Children Act 2004.

Now in its tenth year, the LSCB partnership 
continues to provide ongoing opportunities 
to improve local leadership and commitment 
to drive the safeguarding children agenda, 
enhance collaborative inter-agency working, 
increase wider engagement and influence 
from the professional and local community, 
develop effective ways in which children are 
safeguarded for their long-term outcomes 
and promote the sharing of good practice.

The core objectives of all Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards (LSCBs) are:

• To co-ordinate what is done by each 
person or body represented on the board 
for the purposes of safeguarding and 
promoting the welfare of children in the 
area of the authority.

• To ensure the effectiveness of what is 
done by each person or body for that 
purpose.

The scope of LSCBs includes safeguarding 
and promoting the welfare of children in 
three broad areas of activity:

• Activity that affects all children and aims 
to identify and prevent maltreatment, or 
impairment of health or development, 
and ensure children are growing up in 
circumstances consistent with safe and 
effective care.

• Proactive work that aims to target 
particular groups.

• Responsive work to protect children 
who are suffering, or are likely to suffer 
significant harm.

Chairing and Support

The LSCB is chaired independently, in 
accordance with ‘Working Together to 
Safeguard Children 2015.’ Stephen Ashley 
was appointed as Independent Chair in 
November 2016 and reports directly to the 
chief executive of the local authority. His 
predecessor, Sarah Baker left her chairing 
position in Tower Hamlets in September 2016. 

This report covers the period of both chairs' 
tenure.

A full-time business manager and business 
support officer along with the child death 
single point of contact officer support the 
LSCB.  Barts Health NHS Trust funds the 
latter. Additional support is also provided 
by the Policy, Programmes and Community 
Insight function in the Council. 

Governance

P
age 105



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility8

Membership

Membership of the board fully reflects the 
requirements of Working Together (2015) 
with representation from the following 
partners: 

A full list of members is attached in Appendix 1.  

Barts Health 
NHS Trust

Voluntary  
Sector

ELFT / 
CAMHS

Schools & 
Colleges

Police

TH CCG

Lead  
Member for 

Children

Probation

Designated 
Health 

Professionals

Community 
Rehabilitation 

Company

Lay 
Members

Registered 
Social  

Housing 
Forum

CAFCASS

NSPCC

Local  
Authority 

(CSC, YOT, CSP,  
Public Health,  
Education &  

Partnership, Youth 
Services)

P
age 106



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility9

The membership of sub-groups was reviewed to ensure full multi-agency representation and 
members are able to make decisions on behalf of their organisations. Each sub-group is now 
well represented by children’s social care, mental health, community and acute health services, 
police, education and the voluntary sector.  

Structure

The Main Board meets every two months. Attendance at the LSCB meetings has been, as 
always, exceptionally good. The Executive Group also meets bi-monhtly. 

The LSCB has six subgroups delivering the key functions of the LSCB:

TOWER HAMLETS SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN BOARD

IND LSCB CHAIR: 
STEPHEN ASHLEY

 EXECUTIVE GROUP 

IND LSCB CHAIR(S): 
STEPHEN ASHLEY

CHILD DEATH 
OVERVIEW  

PANEL 

CHAIR:  
PUBLIC HEALTH

QUALITY 
ASSURANCE & 
PERFORMANCE 

SUB GROUP 

CHAIR:  
LA – 

PERFORMANCE 

AWARENESS 
RAISING & 
ENGAGING 

COMMUNITIES 
SUB GROUP 

CHAIR: 
VOLUNTARY 

SECTOR

CASE  
REVIEW  

SUB GROUP 

CHAIR:  
TH CCG

LEARNING & 
WORKFORCE 

DEVELOPMENT  
SUB GROUP 

CHAIR:  
EXTERNAL 

CONSULTANT

CHILD SEXUAL 
EXPLOITATION 

SUB GROUP 
 

CHAIR:  
CHILDREN’S 

SOCIAL CARE

SERIOUS CASE 
REVIEW PANEL 
(MEETS AS AND 

WHEN REQUIRED) 

SCR PANEL CHAIR 
& REVIEWER: 

INDEPENDENT

P
age 107



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility10

Budget

The LSCB budget consists of contributions from a number of key statutory partners and is 
managed by the London Borough of Tower Hamlets (LBTH). Working Together, 2013 first placed 
an increased emphasis on no single agency being overly burdened with the cost of running the 
LSCB and stated that the LSCB budget is a shared responsibility across the partnership. 

Total expenditure for 2016-17: 

The LSCB does not receive sufficient 
contribution to cover the cost of its annual 
spend. The local authority covered this 
year’s shortfall of £28,211, in addition to 
staff costs of £55,900.

Unforeseen overspend is largely dependent 
on the number of serious case and other 
independent reviews conducted in the year.

The following table shows contributions to the LSCB for 2016-17: 

Total  
Expenditure  
for 2016-17:  

£86,105

LSCB Chair  ...................................................................  £20,000

Serious Case Reviews  ...........................  £40,500

Venue & Hospitality  ..........................................  £2,225

Interagency Training  ................................  £20,000

IT Hardware & Software  .........................  £2,780

Sundries  .........................................................................................  £600

Total costs  ...................................................................... £86,105

Met Police Service £5,000  
Fixed Pan-London

London Probation 
Trust £1,344 
Fixed Pan-London

East London Foundation  
NHS Trust £2,500

CAFCASS £550  
Fixed Nationally

London Fire 
Brigade  
£500  
Fixed  
Pan-London

Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group £30,000

Barts Health  
NHS Trust 
£3,000 

London Borough of  
Tower Hamlets  
£15,000 

Total Annual 
Contribution 

£57,894

P
age 108



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility11

Section 2
Local background and safeguarding context in Tower Hamlets

Population

Based on mid-year population estimates 
published by the Office of National Statistics 
(ONS) in June 2017, Tower Hamlets 
borough’s population:

Reached 304,900  
in June 2016. 

This is the first time the 
area’s population has 
exceeded 300,000 and 
first time since World 
War II.

Doubled in the past  
30 years, making it the 
fastest growing Local 
Authority in the UK. 

Local population growth rate (40%) has 
doubled that of London (16%) and four times 
that of England (8%). 

Between June 2015-2016, 
the borough gained 9,600 
additional residents –  
drivers for this are twofold: 
natural and migration 
changes. More birth than 
deaths and international  
immigration has increased our growth.

Gender of our 
residents comprises 
of 52.2% male 
and 47.8% female 
making it the forth 
highest proportion 
of male residents in the UK, more than 
London as a whole (49.8%) and England 
(49.4%). There are 13,300 more males  
than females.

Has a relatively young 
population, placed forth 
youngest in the UK with a 
median age range of 30.6.

Our proportion of under-16s 
at 20% is similar to that of 
London and England  
(20% and 19% respectively).

Conversely, Tower Hamlets 
has proportionally one of the fewest older 
residents compared to with other areas. 9% 
are over 60 compared to London (16%) and 
England (23%).

%

P
age 109



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility12

Diversity

Bangladeshis remain the largest  
ethnic minority group at 32%, the largest 
in the country, followed by White British 
at 31%. This group has decreased from 
42.9% since the 2001 census. The third 
largest ethnic group is other white (12.4%) 
consisting largely of eastern and western 
Europeans, Australian and Americans. This 
is the fastest growing ethnic group and has 
almost doubled between the 2001 and  
2011 Census.  

At least 90 different 
languages being used in 
the borough and 66% of our 
residents used English as their 
main language and 18% use 
Bengali, making it the forth 
most linguistically diverse area  
in England and Wales.

Households have grown  
by 28.9% since 2001 with  
an extra 22,727, the highest 
growth seen within London.

A breakdown of households comprises 
of single person (34.6%), married or 
civil partner couples (23.7%), cohabiting 
couples (9.5%), lone parents (10.6%), other 
households with more than one family 
residing together (19.6%) and households 
with full time students (1.9%).

There are 26,916 (26.6%) 
households with dependent 
children. This is lower than 
London (30.9%) and England 
(29.1%). Of this, half live with 
two parents (49.1%) and a quarter (27.2%) 
live within a lone parent household.

The 2011 Census found 9% 
of our residents aged 16 
plus, a total of 18,311 adults, 
had low levels of English 
proficiency in England. 

It is substantially higher than the average 
across London (4%) and England (2%).  
Only Newham was placed higher than  
Tower Hamlets. 

The most recent Census in 2011 shows that Tower Hamlets has one of the most diverse 
populations in the country, home to many communities. Our ethno-demographic profile remains 
relatively unchanged since we last reported in 2015-16; the next census is due in 2021. 

P
age 110



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility13

Diversity - School Population

While two thirds of the boroughs population 
are from an ethnic minority group (i.e. non-
White British), nine in 10 pupils attending 
school in Tower Hamlets are from an ethnic 
minority group. The majority of pupils are 
from a Bangladeshi background (63%). 

In the Spring School Census 20172, the 
Department for Education (DfE) collected 
information on pupils' country of birth for the 
first time. However, it should be cautioned 
that data was missing for a significant 
proportion of pupils. 23% of all records are 
missing country of birth. This can be in part 
due to voluntary information provided by 
parents in fear of how the information could 
be misused for other purposes i.e. enforcing 
immigration regulations.

2 Source: Tower Hamlets School Census, spring 2017. 
Notes: Figures include pupils of all age groups: nursery, 
primary, secondary and post-16. Figures exclude dual 
registered pupils. Percentages are based on valid data only 
(excluding records with missing data).

Tower Hamlets Pupil Population by country of birth – Spring 2017

 No of pupils % of pupils

Born in the UK 31,437 91.6

Not Born in the UK 2,878 8.4

Africa 189 0.6

The Americas & the Caribbean 93 0.3

Asia  1,116 3.3

Bangladesh 920 2.7

Other Asian Countries 196 0.6

Europe 1,426 4.2

Italy 856 2.5

Spain 110 0.3

Other EU countries 403 1.2

Other non-EU countries 57 0.2

Middle East 41 0.1

Oceania/ Australasia 13 0.0

Missing Data 9,970 -

Total 44,285 100

P
age 111



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility14

Health 

Reducing inequalities in health and wellbeing 
experienced by so many Tower Hamlets 
residents is one of the biggest challenges 
facing the borough. 

Life expectancy has risen over the last 
decade it continues to be lower than 
the London and national averages, and 
significant health inequalities persist.  People 
in Tower Hamlets tend to become ill at an 
earlier age and this is reflected in the ‘healthy 
life expectancy’ figure, which is lower than 
the national average. The life expectancy gap 
between Tower Hamlets and England as a 
whole is 1.9 years for men and 0.5 years for 
women.  

13.5% of residents have 
a health condition or 
disability that limits their 
daily activities and Tower 
Hamlets has a higher 
number of residents with a 
severe disability compared with London 
and England, despite our relatively young 
population. 

Tower Hamlets has some of 
the highest death rates due 
to cancer, cardiovascular 
disease and chronic lung 
disease in the country. 
Tower Hamlets also has 
amongst the highest adult infection rates of 
HIV, tuberculosis and sexually transmitted 
infections in London.

The health and wellbeing of children in 
Tower Hamlets is mixed compared with 
the England average. Infant and child 
mortality rates are similar to the London 
average. However, children in Tower Hamlets 
have worse than average levels of obesity: 
22.5% of children aged 4-5 years and 41.9% 
of children aged 10-11 years are classified as 
overweight or obese.  In addition, oral health 
is poor, with 45% of 5-year-old children 
experiencing tooth decay compared to 28% 
nationally.   

In addition to improvements in maternity 
services, local NHS services have, in recent 
years, made significant improvements to 
immunisation rates, with coverage amongst 
the highest in the country for under fives. 

Whilst there are high levels of sexually 
transmitted diseases amongst adults in 
Tower Hamlets (8th highest in the country), 
the available data suggests that amongst 
young people, infections may be relatively 
low.  The rate of chlamydia infections in  
15-24 year olds is below London and 
national averages.  Whilst the rate of alcohol 
use in young people is low, drug use in the 
population is high.  

The relationship between the LSCB and 
health partners, both commissioning and 
providers, is critical if we are to have an 
impact on improving the lives of vulnerable 
children and young people.

P
age 112



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility15

Child Poverty

In 2014, there were an estimated 69,300 
children and young people aged 0 to 
19 living in Tower Hamlets, representing 
approximately 20% of the total population. 
The young population in the borough is 
projected to rise in line with the general 
population growth. 

• The latest available child poverty data 
remains from 20153 and shows that 
49% of children and young people in 
the borough live in poverty. This is the 
highest child poverty rate in the UK, 
despite recent falls in line with the rest of 
London.  In the same year, 53% of pupils 
were eligible for free school meals in 
state-funded secondary schools, which 
is the highest level in the country.  This 
level of disadvantage is likely to have 
lifelong negative effects on the health and 
wellbeing of children.    

• The majority (83%) of these children live 
in families reliant on out-of-work welfare 
benefits where the unemployment rate 
was 9.4% in 2011, the second highest 
across London.

• The rate of homelessness acceptances 
is in line with the average for London 
in 2014 (5.1% per 1,000 households) 
despite it having fallen from a higher 
rate five years previously (8% per 1,000 
households) while across London the 
rate rose. Similarly, while the rate of 
households in temporary accommodation 
rose in London between 2010-2015, it fell 
in Tower Hamlets though the rate is still 
higher than average (18.6% per 1,000 
households compared to 13.6% as the 
London average). There is a high rate of 
overcrowding in the borough with 16% of 
all households overcrowded.

3 London’s Poverty Profile Report 2015, New Policy Institute, 
www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/indicators/boroughs/ 

49% of children and 
young people in the 
borough live in poverty

49%

53% of pupils were eligible 
for free school meals in 
state-funded secondary 
schools

53%

83% of these children  
live in families reliant on  
out-of-work welfare benefit

83%

P
age 113



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility16

Education and Employment 

In 2016, 62% of children achieved a good 
level of development at the age of five 
compared to a national average of 69%.  
Despite steady improvement over the last 
three years, this indicates that the issues 
highlighted above are continuing to impact 
on children in the early years.  

Despite this disadvantage, children at school 
do well. In 2016, 62% of children achieved 
the expected Key Stage 2 level in reading, 
writing and maths by the end of primary 
school.  This figure was above the national 
average of 54%.  In 2016 GCSE results 
revealed that 57.1% of children achieved five 
grade A*-C passes including English and 
Maths compared with a national figure of 
57.7% for state funded schools in England.  

Tower Hamlets results for GCSEs have been 
above national average since 2011. 

At the age of 16, the proportion of 
young people who are not in education, 
employment or training is relatively high, 
although this figure drops to below the 
London average for those aged 18. 

Level 3 (A-Level or equivalent) results are 
below the London and national average, 
although there has been some improvement.  
Between 2013/14 and 2014/15, the gap 
between Tower Hamlets and the national 
average (for state schools and colleges)  
has reduced.

Children in need of help and 
protection

To fulfil its statutory function under 
Regulation 54 an LSCB should use data and, 
as a minimum, assess the effectiveness of 
the help provided to children and families, 
including early help. 

Based on our local safeguarding data  
for 2016-17:

There were a total of 2,528 referrals 
to children’s social care in 2016-17 of 
which 317 were repeat referrals. This has 
decreased compared to the previous year 
3,333 referrals of which 301 were repeats.

1,417 child protection investigations (s47s) 
were undertaken 

183 of investigations against an adult 
working with a child were resolved within the 
30 day DfE target

As of March 2017, 388 children were subject to 
a child protection plan over the 12-month period  

Of these, 18 were subject to child protection 
plans for two years or more. The main reason 
was neglect 

23 children were on a child protection plan 
for a second or subsequent time, within two 
years of the previous plan

4   LSCB Regulation 2006

P
age 114



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility17

182

Physical abuse 74

Emotional abuse 182

Neglect 105

15Sexual abuse

12Multiple abuse

Category of Abuse 

       

Emotional abuse is the most common reason 
for children becoming subject to a child 
protection plan. These are mainly children 
who have experienced living with domestic 
abuse at home

333 children were looked after by the local 
authority at the end of March 2016 

178 children were subject to a court 
application (including care and supervision 
orders)

139 out of 183 children looked after 
received their annual health and dental 
check within the 12 month period.  
This has decreased from 83.2% 

87 out of 287 young care leavers are not 
in employment, education or training. This is 
based on the group of young people (aged 
19-24) who were looked after at age 16 

18 children live in private fostering 
arrangement 

61 young people were referred to the multi-
agency sexual exploitation panel and are 
mainly young girls at an average age of 14 

414 return home interviews were 
undertaken children missing from home or 
care of which:

Missing children from care 238

Children from care return 115 
home interviews conducted 

Children from care return 123 
home interviews declined  

Missing from home  176

Missing from home return 80 
interviews conducted  

Missing from home return 96 
interview declined 

Young people who are missing are 
sometimes trafficked internally for the 
purposes of criminal and sexual exploitation. 
The National Referral Mechanism (NRM) is 
a framework for identifying victims of human 
trafficking or modern slavery and ensuring 
they receive the appropriate support. Data 
is collated nationally by the Modern Slavery 
Human Trafficking Unit (National Crime 
Agency). This information contributes to 
building a clearer picture about the scope of 
human trafficking and modern slavery victims 
in the UK.

25 “potential victims of trafficking” were 
referred to the National Crime Agency

36 child deaths were reported in the year 

The child death overview panel reviewed 31 
child deaths, of which, 26 were recorded as 
expected deaths (life limiting illness) and five 
were unexpected deaths. 28 of the 31 child 
deaths were under the age of 6 months. The 
number of neo-natal deaths and those under 
the age of 1, were the biggest group 

2,302 professionals received safeguarding 
training provided by the LSCB

Children Looked After by age

Age at 31 March Boys Girls

Under 1: 8 8

1 - 4: 4 23

5 - 9: 28 20

10 - 15: 65 57

16 - 17: 74 46

TOTAL  179 154

Total of Children Looked After  
at the end of March 2017:

333

P
age 115



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility18

Early Help Support with Parents/
Carers 

The local authority’s Parental Engagement 
Service provides a range of support to 
parents in schools and other settings such as 
parenting programmes, awareness events, 
survey, information and advice. 

200 parents/carers attended the  
Annual Parent Conference ‘Informed and 
Empowered! Keeping our Children Safe  
and Well’

32,591 unique visits to the Local Offer

There are more than 250 active members 
on the Parent & Carer Council who regularly 
contribute to the borough wide forum and  
help shape council services for families

School Ready/Neglect pilot programme  
saw an average 7% increase in school 
attendance of the children targeted

31 Healthy Families Parent Ambassadors  
are trained and active – delivering healthy 
eating sessions for parents in schools

Annual Parent Carer Survey indicated that a 
quarter (26%) report that their children have 
been bullied in the past year and nearly six 
in ten (58%) say they often worry about their 
children's health and well-being

100% Parents who attend a Parental 
Engagement course/session report they 
have increased confidence and awareness 
to help them support their child’s learning, 
development and wellbeing

669 parents/carers accessed information 
and advice sessions to support school 
transition

91% of the parents attending the ‘Emotional 
First Aid’ course felt more optimistic about 
their future and that confidence in their ability 
to manage stress in their daily lives increased 
by the end of the course (using the Edinburgh 
Emotional Well-being Scale)

15,500 calls/drop-ins made to the Family 
Information Service

Section 11 (Children Act 2004)

Section 11 of the Children Act places a 
statutory requirement on key organisations 
to ensure arrangements are in place to 
discharge their duty to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. Biennial 
self-assessments are undertaken by the 

LSCB partners to assess the effectiveness 
of the local safeguarding arrangements 
at a strategic and operational level. The 
last section 11-audit exercise took place 
in January 2016 and partners identified 
a number of key actions to ensure full 
compliance. The following sets out areas of 
challenge that arose across the partnership:

• Disclosure and Barring Processes causing 
delay in safer recruitment standards

• Safeguarding Escalation Processes for 
safeguarding concerns need further 
understanding and use

• Budget cuts affecting our training offer 
and some front line children practitioners 
are finding it increasingly difficult to 
attend learning opportunities due to work 
demand 

• Safeguarding is not explicitly part of 
MOPAC 7 (Mayor’s Office for Policing and 
Crime). Police officers performance are 
monitored against MOPAC 7

• Safeguarding is not considered in  
service development and a responsibility 
of all workers, not just those with a 
designated role

• Need to embed safeguarding within 
registered social housing landlords.

P
age 116



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility19

In August 2016, the corporate director for children’s services 
commissioned an independent review of Tower Hamlets 
Safeguarding Children Board. The review reported its findings in 
September 2016 and highlighted that the LSCB:

• Had reviewed its governance arrangement to take account of the 
boards growing remit. However, partners expressed concern about 
the board’s membership, function, breadth of work and capacity to 
deliver consistently.  A number of the issues interlinked and were 
found to be fundamental to the organisational ‘health’ of the board 
and unless tackled would become a pernicious force, undermining 
the capability of the board to properly fulfil its core businesses. 

• The board was seen to be largely compliant with statute but there 
was evidence that on occasions demand and pressures meant that 
key dates were missed.

• There was evidence that the board is aware of its responsibilities 
and had met a number of key functions.

• Specific areas for consideration were made and accepted by the 
board, these were:

 

The Children and Social Work Act received Royal Assent in April 2017, 
which makes a number of changes around social work practice and the 
care of looked after children. Significantly, the Act will see the abolition 
of all sections of the Children Act 2004 that relate to LSCBs. Section 16 
describes the arrangement to replace current LSCB structures: 

Tower Hamlets LSCB is required to publish its new safeguarding 
children arrangements in the near future. 

Section 3
Inspection and Reviews

1 The safeguarding partners for a local authority area in 
England must make arrangements for:

(a)  the safeguarding partners, and  
(b)  any relevant agencies that they consider appropriate, to 

work together in exercising their functions, so far as the 
functions are exercised for the purpose of safeguarding 
and promoting the welfare of children in the area. 

2 The arrangements must include arrangements for the 
safeguarding partners to work together to identify and 
respond to the needs of children in the area:

The safeguarding partners are:

(a)  the local authority; 
(b) a clinical commissioning group for an area any part of 

which falls within the local authority area; 
(c) the chief officer of police for a police area any part of 

which falls within the local authority area.

To improve the lines of sight between the chair and the board

To improve the quality audit programme and resolve information 
sharing barriers

To improve the future role, purpose and structure of the board  

To improve the current LSCB Website

3

3

3

3

P
age 117



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility20

In February/March 2017, Ofsted undertook 
a review of the effectiveness of the LSCB 
in conjunction with Children’s Social Care 
Inspection of services for children in need 
of help and protection; children looked 
after and care leavers. Ofsted judged Tower 
Hamlets LSCB to be ‘inadequate’ as it found 
that we were note effectively discharging all 
our statutory functions. Ofsted found that 
the recently revised governance framework 
was not established enough to be effective in 
facilitating the monitoring and evaluation of 
the impact of our work programme.  
In addition, Ofsted also cited:

• The board was excessively large therefore 
limiting meaningful debate and effective 
decision-making

• The lead member had not exercised their 
responsibility as a participating observer, 
weakening scrutiny of the board

• The board had not ensured timely 
oversight of key practice areas

• Insufficient monitoring of the quality of 
front line practice meant the board was 
not aware of the failings of children’s 
social care to protect children.

Ofsted issued five recommendations:

Ensure the effectiveness of multi-agency training is monitored 
and evaluated, including training for staff in recognising and 
assessing risks to sexually exploited children 

Ensure the board prioritises the response of the partnership 
to the issues of youth violence and gang activity and their 
relationship to child sexual exploitation, including the 
development of a comprehensive problem profile

Ensure the business management capacity of the board is 
sufficient to meet the need

Prioritise multi-agency monitoring of frontline practice to 
ensure that the board has effective awareness of the quality of 
practice and its impact on outcomes for vulnerable children

Urgently review monitoring and governance arrangements to 
ensure the board is fulfilling its statutory functions

Tower Hamlets LSCB accepted the judgement and recommendations made 
by Ofsted in April 2017

P
age 118



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility21

Following the local and Ofsted review of the LSCB and 
publication of the Children and Social Work Act 2017, 
it was critical for the board to focus on improving 
areas that directly impact on front line practice and 
the support given to children and families. It identified 
six areas to enable the board to improve child-
safeguarding practice across agencies and these are 
incorporated in to 2017-18’s priorities:

• Creating systems leadership to drive safeguarding 
strategy and practice across children’s social care, 
police, health and beyond.

• Developing robust statistical analysis of child 
protection performance and pan-agency 
intelligence of emerging safeguarding issues.

• Developing effective inter-agency scrutiny and audit 
processes and a culture of constructive challenge.

• Maintaining an effective case review system that 
applies systemic approaches to reviewing critical 
incidents.

• Promoting pan-agency, single agency and 
individual learning in order to enhance 
safeguarding practice and promote service 
development.

• Effectively engaging with the community and 
service users in order to create learning to improve 
strategy and practice. 

Responding to Inspection

What have we done so far

The LSCB urgently revised it structure and immediately put in place a smaller 
executive board responsible for setting the direction of the board, ensuring it is 
compliant with its statutory function. It will performance manage the LSCB through  
its systems, processes and impact.

There is now an operational group reflecting a wider partnership contingency.  
This group will resolve issues raised by partners, draw up and agree policy and 
undertake an initial governance role. Its focus will be on:

• Resolving multiagency performance and audit issues

• Situational awareness of the safeguarding environment, sharing intelligence and 
resolving obstacles

• Implementing learning from serious case reviews

• Ensuring safeguarding messages reach professionals and the public

• Coordinate interface with other partnership boards to enhance safeguarding 
children’s work 

A new child-level performance dataset is being developed to provide a detailed 
understanding of live frontline practice. Partner data from health agencies, police, 
public health and children’s social care will be triangulated to enhance the  
knowledge base.

There is now a Health Forum led by Tower Hamlets CCG that will look specifically at 
health performance issues and identify problematic areas where they interface with 
children’s social care.

P
age 119



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility22

A new quality assurance framework is 
being developed to allow the LSCB to test 
out practice through deep dive, single and 
multiagency case audit. 

The business management capacity has 
been increased with the recruitment of 
a permanent board coordinator post. 
Plans are in place for a performance and 
quality assurance officer to oversee the 
increased monitoring activities of the 
board.

A new LSCB website in conjunction with 
Safeguarding Adults Board will replace 
the current version.

Increased collaboration with other partnership boards including the community safety 
partnership and adults safeguarding boards.

A number of issues relating to children’s social care data were identified during the Ofsted 
Inspection, this highlighted that recording practice and compliance issues had undermined 
the accuracy of some of the child data being used in Tower Hamlets. While some of these 
data quality issues were known to children’s social care and remedial actions were being 
taken, the effectiveness of these actions was not yet evident at the time the Inspection took 
place. However, the LSCB has decided to include the children’s safeguarding data that was 
known to the board at the time. See Appendix 2. 

A revised child-centred performance management process has since been put in place for 
2017-18. This focuses on the needs of the child through their safeguarding journey and 
demands a much higher level of compliance and scrutiny. The LSCB is working with key 
partner agencies to ensure there is an accurate multi-agency dataset in place and that 
information is tested regulary through quality assurance processes. 

Next year, the LSCB aims to provide a 
full account of what our local data tells us 
about children who are in need of support, 
protection and are looked after. In addition, 
children’s social care, metropolitan police 
and Barts Health NHS Trust will report on the 
improvements made to safeguard children 
work following their respective inspections.

The LSBC will demonstrate that through 
its improved oversight, monitoring and 
scrutiny, children in Tower Hamlets are safe.

LSCB Performance Dataset
Core Safeguarding Child Level Data

Single-agency  
case audits

Multiagency  
case audits

Thematic  
audits

Deep dive  
audits

P
age 120



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility23

Priorities for 2017-2018

It is critical that the future priorities for the LSCB focus on those areas that will directly impact on frontline practice and the support given to families 
and children.  It will need to be easily adaptable to the new statutory arrangements as we move forward: 

Priority 1

PERFORMANCE & AUDIT 

Developing robust statistical 
analysis of child protection 
performance and pan-agency 
intelligence of emerging 
safeguarding issues.

Developing effective inter-agency 
scrutiny and audit processes 
and a culture of constructive 
challenge.

We will monitor the quality of 
front line practice through case 
audits and thematic deep-dive

We will improve and agree an 
information sharing protocol to 
support our work

We will refine our quality 
assurance framework

Priority 2

SITUATIONAL AWARENESS 

Creating systems leadership to 
drive safeguarding strategy and 
practice across children’s social 
care, police, health and beyond.

Create and foster opportunity 
for partners to discuss pertinent 
issues in their agencies, 
blockages to partnership 
working, information sharing.

We will increase our scrutiny 
of partners through improved 
governance

We will review all current LSCB 
policies/protocols, identify gaps 

We will revise our threshold 
guidance

Priority 3

LEARNING FROM SERIOUS 
CASE REVIEWS 

Maintaining an effective case 
review system that applies 
systemic approaches to 
reviewing critical incidents.

Promoting pan-agency, single 
agency and individual learning in 
order to enhance safeguarding 
practice and promote service 
development.

We will undertake serious case 
and other learning reviews

We will monitor the impact 
of learning and demonstrate 
outcomes for children

Priority 4

ENGAGEMENTS 

Effectively engage with the 
community and service users 
in order to create learning to 
improve strategy and practice.
- Ascertain what children and 

young people need
- Disseminating safeguarding 

messages  
- Working with other partnership 

boards

We will share pertinent learning 
through a Safeguarding 
Awareness Month 

We will involve and listen to the 
views of children and young 
people

We will improve our 
communication with the public 
and local community

P
age 121



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility24

Appendix 1 – Membership List (as of 31 March 2017)

Section 4
Appendices

Name JOB TITLE

Alex Nelson Voluntary Sector Children & Youth Forum  
 Coordinator

Alexandra Law Nursery School Heads Forum  
 Representative (Harry Roberts Nursery)

Alice Smith CAFCASS Rep

TBC  Service Head - Safer Communities –  
Shahzia Ghani LBTH Deputy rep

Vacant Secondary School Heads Rep  
 (Bow Secondary School)

Chris Hahn Interim Named Nurse for Safeguarding  
 Children - BHT

Christine McInnes Service Head, Learning & Achievement -  
 LBTH

Christabel Shawcross Independent Chair Tower Hamlets   
(Papers only) Safeguarding  Adults Board

Claire Belgard Interim Service Head – Youth &  
 Community Service – LBTH

Clare Hughes Lead Named Nurse for Safeguarding  
 Children - BHT

Name JOB TITLE

Cllr Rachael Saunders Lead Member for Children's Services

Debbie Jones Corporate Director,  
 Children’s Services – LBTH

Diane Roome Lay Member

TBC Head of Stakeholder & Partnerships -  
 Community Rehabilitation Company  
 (London)

Rebecca Scott (Dr) GP Representative  
 Tower Hamlets CCG

Esther  Associate Director of Public Health 
Trenchard-Mabere 

Hanspeter Dorner ELFT CAMHS Rep

Vacant Service Head, Housing & RSL Rep

Jan Pearson Associate Director for Safeguarding  
 Children - ELFT

Judith Lewsey Designated Nurse for Safeguarding  
 Children & LAC

Julia Hale (Dr) Designated Doctor,  Barts Health  
 NHS Trust

P
age 122



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility25

Appendix 1 – Membership List continued

Name JOB TITLE

Layla Richards Service Manager, Policy, Programmes &  
 Community Insight - LBTH

Lucy Marks Chief Executive , Compass Wellbeing CIC

Marian Moore Service Manager for Tower Hamlets,  
 NSPCC

Mike Hirst Primary School Heads Forum Rep  
 (Seven Mills)

Nasima Patel Service Head – CSC, LBTH

Neherun Nessa Ali Lay Member

Nick Steward Director of Student Services 
 Tower Hamlets College

Nikki Bradley, MBE Service Manager, YOS and Family  
 Interventions/Troubled Families LBTH

Pauke Arrindell Voluntary Sector Rep 
 Home Start

Sandra Reading Director of Midwifery & Nursing (RLH),  
 Barts Health NHS Trust

Stuart Cheek (DCI) Met Police Service – Child Abuse  
 Investigation Team

Name JOB TITLE

Stuart Webber Head of Safeguarding  
 Hackney, City of London and  Tower  
 Hamlets - National Probation Service 

Sue Williams Borough Commander,    
 Met Police Tower Hamlets 
DCI Ingrid Cruickshank Deputy rep

Sarah Williams Legal Services – LBTH

Stephen Ashley Independent LSCB Chair

Tom Strannix Voluntary Sector Representative –  
 Manager, Place2Be

Tracey Upex Deputy Borough Director –  
 Tower Hamlets, ELFT

Will Tuckley Chief Executive - LBTH

P
age 123



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility26

Appendix 2 - LSCB Performance Data 2016-17

The recent Ofsted inspection of children’s 
social care identified a number of issues 
with recording practice and compliance that 
undermined the accuracy of the data being 
used to inform decision-making. While some 
of these data quality issues were known 
to children’s social care, and actions were 

being taken, the effectiveness of these 
actions was not yet evident. In 2017/18, 
a revised child-centred performance 
management process has been put in place, 
which focuses on the needs of the child and 
demands a much higher level of compliance 
with all recording standards. 

The analysis below does not highlight any 
specific data quality concerns for 2016/17 
data, but in general this data should be 
read with caution and within the described 
context.   

Children in Need

There was a relatively low rate of referrals into children’s social care services per 10,000 of the children & young people population.  
We believe that high thresholds to social care intervention in the “front door” teams contributed to this lower level of referrals i.e. contacts  
were not always appropriately escalated to referral stage and beyond. This is similarly reflected in the low rate of assessments completed 
compared to statistical neighbours.   

 Source Description 2012/  2013/ 2014/  2015/  2016/  England Statistical 
   2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average Neighbours

 LOCAL1 Referral rate per 10,000 of the children & young people 426.7 431.7 443.8 529.0 404 532.2 566.8 
  (C&YP) population 

 APA SS6 Percentage of Referrals that were repeat referrals 9.6% 10.6% 10.0% 9.1% 12.5% 22.3% 15.5%

 N07 Rate of assessments per 10,000 of the C&YP population 413.6 410.8 331.8 336.0 376 489.5 488.3

 N14 Assessments completed within 45 days or less from 74.8% 75.8% 85.1% 87.1% 71.4% 83.4% 78.1% 
  point of referral (CIN Census methodology)

P
age 124



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility27

Child Protection

There were high rates of activity in relation to formal child protection enquiries, with a high rate of formal enquiries (section 47s) and a high rate of 
children subject to a child protection plan, though the trend over the last few years has been a reduction of the rate of children on child protection 
plans. The proportion of child protection plans lasting over two years has reduced over the last three years and there are a comparatively low 
proportion of ‘repeat’ child protection plans (where children become subject to child protection plans for a second or subsequent time).

Performance in relation to timeliness of Initial Child Protection Conferences deteriorated since the previous year and was well below comparator 
groups. Though the proportion of children visited in line with the timescales set out in their plan increased, the proportion of children receiving a 
timely review of their child protection plan reduced and was below comparator group benchmarks.  

  Source Description 2012/  2013/ 2014/  2015/  2016/  England Statistical 
   2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average Neighbours

   Rate of Children Subject of a Child Protection Plan per 10,000 58.2 55.6 51.0 50.1 45.9 43.1 39.0 
  at 31 March

N08 Section 47 (child protection) enquiries rate per 10,000 C&YP population 190.2 167.0 162.1 191.7 167.5 147.5 141.2

N13 Initial Child Protection Case Conferences – rate per 10,000 63.9 57.4 62.1 65.3 68.2 62.6 57.9 
  C&YP population

N15 Initial Child Protection Case Conferences convened within 15 days 59.1% 52.2% 58.2% 69.5% 63.2% 76.7% 70.3% 
  from point Child Protection Strategy meeting held

N17 Percentage of Child Protection Plans lasting two years or more at 31 10.1% 7.1% 11.4%  7.0% 5.6% 3.8% 3.4% 
(Formerly NI 64) March and for child protection plans which have ended during the year.

N18 Percentage of children becoming the subject of Child Protection 14.5% 17.9% 15.2% 19.3% 12.2% 17.9% 17.4% 
  Plan for a second or subsequent time

N20 (6 months Percentage of cases where the lead social worker has seen the child  N/A 65.4% 54.5% 51.0% 69.9% N/A N/A 

Rolling Year) in accordance with timescales specified in the CPP. 

NI 67 Percentage of Child Protection Reviews carried out within  98.0% 97.6% 94.9% 99.5% 91.2% 93.7% 96.0% 
  statutory timescale 

APA SS13 Percentage of children with CP plans who are not allocated to a  0.0% 0.3% 0.0% 1.0% 0.0% N/A N/A 
  Social Worker 

LOCAL2 Percentage of LADO cases resolved in 30 days or less 74.1% 69.6% 69.0% 67.0% 64.9% N/A N/A

P
age 125



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility28

Looked After Children

The number of looked after children per 10,000 of children & young people population, at 50, was below the England and statistical neighbour 
average. Long term placement stability, an important factor in maintaining good levels of wellbeing, was above comparator group performance but 
has decreased over the last three years. Short term placement stability was worse than comparator groups, having increased over the same three 
year period.  

The proportion of looked after children receiving regular health and dental checks had apparently reduced to 59%, although this is an area where 
there have been known recording issues in 2016/17.  Similarly, known recording issues have impacted on the apparent proportion of looked after 
children who received a timely review. 

There was a significant increase in the percentage of children who went missing from care at some point during the year, though this increase is 
reflected nationally and amongst our statistical neighbour group. Locally, improved attention to, and recording of, this issue has driven this increase.

 

 

 Source Description 2012/  2013/ 2014/  2015/  2016/  England Statistical 
   2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average Neighbours

    Rate of Looked After Children per 10,000 as at 31st March 53.0 55.0 44.0 47.3 50 60.0 62.4

LACP01 Percentage of CLA with three or more placements 11.2% 11.0% 9.7% 11.1% 12.7% 10% 10.9% 
(Formerly NI 62)

LACP02 CLA under 16, looked after for 2.5 years or more and in the same 69.6% 79.0% 78% 75.0% 71.6% 68% 67.1%  
 (Formerly NI 63) placement for 2 years

LACP04 The percentage of children looked after who went missing from care  
  during the year as a percentage of all children looked after during - - 5.1% 8.1% 15% 9% 9.8% 
  the year (new definition)

PAF C63 CLA who participated in their review 98.4% 88.6% 92.4% 89.4% 86% N/A N/A

NI 66 CLA cases which were reviewed within required timescales 96.4% 89.9% 85.5% 65.0% 54.1% N/A N/A

APA Percentage of CLA with a named Social Worker 99.0% 98.2% 99.3% 98.3% 99.1% N/A N/A 
SS(LAC)5

PAF C19 Percentage of CLA >12 months who had an annual  Health and 85.6% 91.5% 89.8% 68.0% 59% 86.4% 90.7% 
  Dental check

PAF C19 Percentage of CLA>12 months whose Immunisations were up to date 79.7% 78.5% 88.2% 77.4% 69% N/A N/A

P
age 126



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility29

Care Proceedings

Timeliness of care proceedings has improved over the last few years, with latest average of 29 weeks below the England and statistical neighbour 
average, though short of the 26 week national target.There was a significant increase in the percentage of children who went missing from care at 
some point during the year, though this increase is reflected nationally and amongst our statistical neighbour group. Locally, improved attention to, 
and recording of, this issue has driven this increase.

 

 

Leaving Care

Outcomes for children leaving care remain positive compared to England and statistical neighbour group, with more care leavers entering 
employment, education or training, and living in suitable accommodation.  

 

 Source Description 2012/  2013/ 2014/  2015/  2016/  England Statistical 
   2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average Neighbours

  A08 Average length of care proceedings locally (weeks)  53 42 35 29 29 30 35

 Source Description 2012/  2013/ 2014/  2015/  2016/  England Statistical 
   2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average Neighbours

LACLC02  The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after 85% 61% 56% 58% 58% 49% 53% 
(Formerly NI 148) aged 16 who were in employment, education or training

LACLC03  The proportion of young people aged 19 who were looked after aged 90% 67.6% 92% 94% 91% 83% 83% 
 (Formerly NI 147) 16 who were in suitable accommodation  

P
age 127



Tower Hamlets Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2016/17

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility30

Appendix 3 - Glossary

BHT Barts Health Trust

CA04 Children Act 2004

CAF Common Assessment  
 Framework

CAG Clinical Academic Group

CAIT Child Abuse Investigation Team

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental  
 Health Service

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

C&F Children & Families Act 2014 
ACT 2014

CHAMP Child & Adolescent Mental  
 Health Project

CLA Children Looked After

CME Children Missing from  
 Education

CPS Crown Prosecution Service

CSC Children’s Social Care

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation

CSP Community Safety Partnership

CQC Care Quality Commission

DCOS Disabled Children Outreach Service

DHR Domestic Homicide Review

DV&HCT Domestic Violence and Hate  
 Crime Team

ED Emergency Department (A&E)

ELFT East London Foundation  
 NHS Trust

FGM Female Genital Mutilation

FNP Family Nurse Partnership

IPST Integrated Pathways & Support Team

LAC Looked After Child

LADO Local Authority  
 Designated Officer

LCS Leaving Care Services

LSCB Local Safeguarding  
 Children Board

MARAC Multi-Agency Risk  
 Assessment Conference 

MASE Multi-Agency Sexual  
 Exploitation (Panel)

MASH Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub

MPS Metropolitan Police Service

NICE National Institute for health and  
 Care Excellence

NSPCC National Society for the 
 Prevention of Cruelty to Children

NTDA National Trust Development  
 Agency

PFSS Parent and Family Support Service

PVE Preventing Violent Extremism

RLH Royal London Hospital

SAB Safeguarding Adults Board

SCR Serious Case Review

SEND Special Education Needs and  
 Disabilities

SI Serious Incident

SIP Social Inclusion Panel

SoS Signs of Safety

TH Tower Hamlets

THSCB Tower Hamlets Safeguarding  
 Children Board

VAWG Violence Against Women and Girls

WT15 Working Together 2015

P
age 128



 LSCB contact details
  Monawara Bakht
  Ian Copeland

			020 7364 2063 / 4955

			lscb@towerhamlets.gov.uk

			www.lscb-towerhamlets.co.uk

P
age 129

mailto:lscb%40towerhamlets.gov.uk?subject=
http://www.lscb-towerhamlets.co.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST
	9.1 Complaints Annual Report
	CI Annual Report 2016 2017 Draft 2017 Sep 04 v2 1

	9.3 Children's Safeguarding Spotlight
	LSCB Annual Report 2016-17 (FINAL)


	P3: 
	P6 a: 
	P11: 
	P19: 
	P24 a: 
	P8 a: 
	P23: 
	P10: 
	P4 a: 
	P2 Content > P6 Governance: 
	P21: 
	P26: 
	P9: 
	P2 content > P7 Chair: 
	Button 31: 
	Next page > 4: 
	Previous page > 2: 
	Return to content p2: 
	Next page > 5: 
	Previous page > 3: 
	Return to content p3: 
	Next page > 6: 
	Previous page > 4: 
	Return to content p4: 
	Next page > 7: 
	Previous page > 5: 
	Return to content p5: 
	Next page > 8: 
	Previous page > 6: 
	Return to content p6: 
	Next page > 9: 
	Previous page > 7: 
	Return to content p7: 
	Next page > 10: 
	Previous page > 8: 
	Return to content p8: 
	Next page > 11: 
	Previous page > 9: 
	Return to content p9: 
	Next page > 12: 
	Previous page > 10: 
	Return to content p10: 
	Next page > 13: 
	Previous page > 11: 
	Return to content p11: 
	Next page > 14: 
	Previous page > 12: 
	Return to content p12: 
	Next page > 15: 
	Previous page > 13: 
	Return to content p13: 
	Next page > 16: 
	Previous page > 14: 
	Return to content p14: 
	Next page > 17: 
	Previous page > 15: 
	Return to content p15: 
	Next page > 18: 
	Previous page > 16: 
	Return to content p16: 
	Next page > 19: 
	Previous page > 17: 
	Return to content p17: 
	Next page > 20: 
	Previous page > 18: 
	Return to content p18: 
	Next page > 21: 
	Previous page > 19: 
	Return to content p19: 
	Next page > 22: 
	Previous page > 20: 
	Return to content p20: 
	Next page > 23: 
	Previous page > 21: 
	Return to content p21: 
	Next page > 24: 
	Previous page > 22: 
	Return to content p22: 
	Next page > 25: 
	Previous page > 23: 
	Return to content p23: 
	Next page > 26: 
	Previous page > 24: 
	Return to content p24: 
	Next page > 27: 
	Previous page > 26: 
	Return to content p26: 
	Next page > 28: 
	Previous page > 27: 
	Return to content p27: 
	Next page > 29: 
	Previous page > 28: 
	Return to content p28: 
	Next page > 30: 
	Previous page > 29: 
	Return to content p25: 
	Previous page > 25: 
	Next page > 31: 
	Button 32: 
	Previous page > 30: 


